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INTRODUCTION 
 
Police officers undertake an enormous responsibility in responding to incidents 
involving individuals threatening suicide.  They often play a pivotal role in safely 
resolving situations and ensuring that individuals obtain the medical or 
psychiatric help they require.  While undoubtedly certain crisis situations require 
prompt and efficient police interventions, many require patience, understanding 
and restraint prior to a safe resolution.  
 
The incident which occurred on December 2, 2008, and which culminated in the 
death of Mr. John Simon, was a preventable tragedy.  
 
By all accounts, John Andrew Simon, a Mi’kmaq fisherman, was a dedicated 
family man and great outdoorsman.  However, he struggled with certain issues, 
including alcohol dependency and health problems.   
 
On the evening of December 2, 2008 at Wagmatcook, Nova Scotia, Mr. Simon, 
after having pointed a rifle, was shot three times and fatally wounded by a 
member of the Baddeck, Nova Scotia, RCMP Detachment.1  At the time of the 
incident, Mr. Simon was in his own home.  His blood alcohol level was elevated, 
he had taken prescription pain medication, and he was reportedly not taking the 
insulin prescribed to him to control his diabetes.  He also threatened suicide and 
had access to firearms.  Mr. Simon’s family members were concerned about his 
well-being and rightfully contacted the police in order to seek assistance. The 
RCMP responded to this urgent request. 
 
The circumstances of the shooting were investigated by the Integrated Critical 
Incident Team (ICIT) led by the Halifax Regional Police but also comprised of 
members of the RCMP.  The ICIT report, delivered December 9, 2009, one year 
and one week after the shooting took place, found that no criminal charges were 
appropriate with respect to any of the persons involved in the incident.  The 
RCMP did not take any disciplinary action against any of the members involved. 
 
In recognition of ongoing public concerns expressed about the level of force used 
in this incident, the RCMP involvement in the homicide investigation, and the lack 
of discipline proceedings, the Commission for Public Complaints Against the 
RCMP (the Commission) exercised its authority on behalf of the public, to 
examine the facts that gave rise to the public’s concerns.  The purpose of this 
report is to provide an objective and thorough assessment of the facts and offer 
recommendations to prevent a reoccurrence of a similar tragedy.   
 
Finally, it is important to note that there is no evidence to believe that the 
intention of any of the RCMP members who responded that night was anything 
other than to manage the incident and bring it to a peaceful conclusion.  
                                               
1 The community of Wagmatcook is within the boundaries of the Baddeck Detachment. 

 1 



Regrettably, this did not occur.  With this in mind, and in an effort to move 
forward and heal the wounds caused by this incident, the Commission’s review 
aims to address the prevention of such outcomes, as well as to recommend 
remedial action to be taken in response to the incident.  
 

CHAIR-INITIATED COMPLAINT AND PUBLIC INTEREST INVESTIGATION 
 
On March 16, 2010, as Chair of the Commission I initiated a complaint 
(Appendix A) into the conduct of the RCMP members involved in the response 
to and subsequent shooting death of Mr. Simon pursuant to subsection 45.37(1) 
of the RCMP Act.  The purpose was to assess whether the members involved in 
the events of December 2, 2008, from the moment of the initial call to the RCMP 
for assistance, through to the subsequent death of Mr. Simon, complied with all 
appropriate training, policies, procedures, guidelines and statutory requirements 
relating to responding to persons believed to be suicidal, barricaded within a 
premises, or otherwise potentially of a high-risk nature; and whether such 
policies procedures and guidelines are adequate. 

 
In addition, the complaint queried whether the RCMP members involved in the 
investigation of this incident conducted an investigation that was adequate and 
free of actual or perceived conflict of interest, whether they responded 
appropriately and proportionately to the gravity of the incident, whether they 
responded in a timely fashion, and whether their conduct adhered to the 
standards set out in section 37 of the RCMP Act. 
 
This report will examine the events and the actions of the RCMP members which 
culminated in the shooting death of Mr. Simon as well as the subsequent 
investigation conducted by the ICIT.  It will also examine the conduct of members 
of the RCMP in the context of the failure of the RCMP to initiate an internal 
investigation into the conduct of the members involved.  A summary of my 
findings and recommendations can be found at Appendix B. 
 

COMMISSION’S REVIEW OF THE FACTS SURROUNDING THE EVENTS 
 
It is important to note that the Commission is an agency of the federal 
government, distinct and independent from the RCMP.  When conducting a 
public interest investigation, the Commission does not act as an advocate either 
for the complainant or for RCMP members.  As Chair of the Commission, my role 
is to make findings after an objective examination of the information available to 
me and, where judged appropriate, to make recommendations that focus on 
steps that the RCMP can take to improve or correct conduct by RCMP members.  
In addition, one of the primary objectives of the Commission is to ensure the 
impartiality and integrity of investigations involving RCMP members. 
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The Commission does not make findings of criminal or civil liability.  Rather, the 
Commission makes its findings and recommendations on a balance of 
probabilities, a lower standard than the criminal standard of beyond a reasonable 
doubt.  Although some terms used in this report may concurrently be used in the 
criminal context, such language is not intended to include any of the 
requirements of the criminal law with respect to guilt, innocence or the standard 
of proof. 
 
My findings, as detailed below, are based on a careful examination of the 
following investigation documents: the ICIT Report and supporting 
documentation, including statements, notes, reports, photos, and videos; the Use 
of Force Report; relevant documentary materials as disclosed by “H” Division, 
including memoranda, e-mails and notes of RCMP members whose involvement 
was other than as provided in the ICIT materials, i.e. division review or 
management involvement; submissions to the Commission made by the 
Wagmatcook Band; a report of the private investigator hired by the Wagmatcook 
Band; a memorandum of agreement pertaining to the creation of the ICIT; and 
relevant RCMP operational and administrative policies, as well as applicable 
legislation.  I have also relied in large part on the independent investigation 
conducted by the Commission’s own investigator, which included a site visit and 
a number of interviews. 
 
I wish to acknowledge that the RCMP’s “H” Division provided complete 
cooperation to the Commission throughout the public interest investigation 
process. In addition, the RCMP provided the Commission with access to all 
materials contained in the original investigative file and all materials identified 
during the public interest investigation. 
 
While I acknowledge that they are not required to do so, it is unfortunate that the 
RCMP members who responded to the 9-1-1 call informing the police of a 
barricaded and potentially suicidal person at the Simon residence declined to be 
interviewed during the course of the Commission’s investigation.  The 
Commission, therefore, will rely on the statements provided to the ICIT 
investigators. 
 
A synopsis of the key RCMP personnel involved in the incident and their roles is 
found at Appendix C to this report.  In addition, a condensed timeline of events 
and a visual timeline are attached at Appendix D. 
 
 



RCMP POLICY AND LEGAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The authority for a police officer to use force in carrying out his or her duties is 
settled and is not in issue in this matter.  In executing his or her duties, a police 
officer is authorized by section 25 of the Criminal Code to use as much force as 
necessary.  However, the officer must be acting on reasonable grounds.  In 
determining whether the amount of force used by the officer was necessary, one 
must look at the circumstances as they existed at the time the force was used.  
 
The Supreme Court of Canada recently concluded: 
 

While police officers may have to resort to force in order to complete an 
arrest or to prevent an offender from escaping their custody, the allowable 
degree of force is constrained by the principles of proportionality, 
necessity and reasonableness.  Under s. 25(1) of the Criminal Code, the 
use of force to effect a lawful arrest is justified if the police officer believes 
on reasonable and probable grounds that it is necessary and if only as 
much force as necessary is used.  Further, under s. 25(3), force intended 
or likely to cause death or grievous bodily harm is prohibited unless the 
officer has an objectively reasonable belief that the amount of force used 
is necessary for self-protection or for the protection of another person. 2 

 
It is also settled that police officers in the course of their duties must exercise 
discretion.  That discretion, however, is tempered by the statutory and policy 
frameworks put in place to provide guidance to the police and a means and 
standard of review for the actions of a police officer. 
 
Police often interact with the public in highly dynamic and quickly evolving 
situations.  Accordingly, “[p]olice actions should not be judged against a standard 
of perfection.  It must be remembered that the police engage in dangerous and 
demanding work and often have to react quickly to emergencies.  Their actions 
should be judged in light of these exigent circumstances.”3 
 
A number of RCMP policies are applicable in the circumstances of this complaint.  
These include those set out in the RCMP Operational Manual, and the Incident 
Management/Intervention Model (IM/IM) used by the RCMP.4  The IM/IM is a 
guide which teaches that police officers should constantly assess and reassess 
the level of risk presented to determine the appropriate intervention strategy and 
tactics when faced with various levels of resistance.  The intent is to assist 
RCMP members in choosing the appropriate intervention option based on the 
behaviours displayed by the subject and on the totality of the situation.  The 
relevant topics discussed in the IM/IM include the risk assessment process, the 
decision to enter a building and the levels of resistance displayed by an 
individual, and the amount of force commensurate with that resistance.  The 

                                               
2 R. v. Nasogaluak, 2010 SCC 6, [2010] 1 S.C.R. 206. 
3 Ibid. 
4 Further detail concerning the IM/IM is found at Appendix E to this report. 
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http://www.canlii.org/en/ca/laws/stat/rsc-1985-c-c-46/latest/rsc-1985-c-c-46.html#sec25
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IM/IM and the CAPRA (Clients/ Acquire and Analyse/ Partnerships/ Response/ 
Assess) model make up the framework used by RCMP members to continuously 
assess risk during an incident and respond with the appropriate level of 
intervention and force. 
 
CAPRA is a problem-solving methodology through which RCMP members are 
trained to find alternative means of approaching a situation and prevent “[…] the 
problem from occurring or from escalating by addressing contributing factors to 
the broad problem rather than specific incidents or manifestations of the issue.” 5

  
 
The goals of CAPRA and the IM/IM are to assist police officers to carry out their 
duties and functions in the manner which will provide the most safety for police 
as well as the public they serve, while recognizing that police work is inherently 
subject to danger and risk. 
 
Please see Appendix E for a more thorough discussion of the IM/IM and the 
CAPRA model. 
 
In addition, RCMP policy deals with arrest, including the authority to enter a 
dwelling house to effect an arrest. The policy correctly points out that during the 
normal course of events, prior judicial authorization is required in the form of a 
warrant (generally called a Feeney warrant) to enter a residence for the purpose 
of arresting an individual.  The exceptions to that requirement are set out in the 
Criminal Code and are further discussed below. 
 
Following an RCMP member-involved shooting incident, RCMP policy requires 
that certain reports be submitted and provides policy guidance for each level of 
authority, from the member who is involved to the Criminal Operations (CROPS) 
Officer for the relevant division.  
 

 
5 http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/ccaps-spcca/capra-eng.htm 

http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/ccaps-spcca/capra-eng.htm


FIRST ISSUE: Whether Constable Frenette and the other RCMP members 
involved in the events of December 2, 2008, from the moment of the initial 
call to the RCMP for assistance, through to the subsequent death of 
Mr. Simon, complied with all appropriate policies, procedures, guidelines 
and statutory requirements relating to persons believed to be suicidal, 
barricaded within a premises, or otherwise potentially of a high risk nature; 
and whether such policies, procedures and guidelines are adequate. 

A. Events prior to the shooting 

 
On December 2, 2008 at approximately 8:45 p.m., the RCMP received a 9-1-1 
call from Mary Katerie Isadore, Mr. Simon’s aunt and a next-door neighbour of 
Mr. Simon and his common-law wife of 24 years, Ms. Patricia MacKay.  At the 
time of making the call, Ms. Isadore was not at home, but had been visiting at the 
nearby home of her sister, Mr. Simon’s mother. 
 
Ms. Isadore stated that John Simon was intoxicated and suicidal, and said that 
he and Ms. MacKay, who was also intoxicated, were arguing over a firearm at 
their residence located at 15 Katie Lane.  It was later determined that 
Ms. MacKay had not been drinking. 
 
At 8:49 p.m., Constable Jason Bernard of the nearby Baddeck RCMP 
Detachment was dispatched to the scene to investigate.  He spoke with 
Ms. Isadore as well as Ms. MacKay by telephone and subsequently spoke with 
Mr. Simon by telephone. 
 
Ms. MacKay informed him that she had taken a shotgun from Mr. Simon and that 
she had the keys to the gun cabinet in the residence.  It was later found that 
Mr. Simon had a second set of keys.  It was subsequently learned that 
Ms. MacKay’s daughter, Ms. Charlene Isadore, had gone to the house to speak 
with Mr. Simon and had attempted to take another rifle from the residence 
without success. 
 
When Constable Bernard spoke by telephone with Mr. Simon, the latter indicated 
that he was fine, but Constable Bernard told him that because a complaint had 
been made, he (Constable Bernard) would have to see Mr. Simon to satisfy 
himself as to Mr. Simon’s welfare. 
 
Fearing that there may be an altercation if he attempted to deal with Mr. Simon 
alone, and as per RCMP policy, Constable Bernard called for backup.  By 
approximately 9 p.m., Constable Jeremy Frenette, another RCMP member of the 
Baddeck Detachment, was called out to assist. 
 
Prior to the arrival of Constable Frenette, Constable Bernard went to the Simon 
residence and spoke through an open ground floor window with Mr. Simon.  
Mr. Simon again said he was fine and would not commit suicide.  
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Constable Bernard formed the opinion that Mr. Simon was intoxicated, and saw a 
rifle lying on a bed in the room Mr. Simon was in at the time.  Constable Bernard 
then called Staff Sergeant Archie Thompson, the then Non-Commissioned 
Officer (NCO) in charge of the Baddeck RCMP Detachment. 
 
Staff Sergeant Thompson instructed Constable Bernard to leave the scene and 
drive to his (Staff Sergeant Thompson’s) residence to pick him up.  
Constable Bernard complied.  Concurrently, Constable Frenette was making his 
way to Wagmatcook in another police vehicle. 
 
At approximately 9:30 p.m., Staff Sergeant Thompson, Constable Bernard and 
Constable Frenette met near the Red Barn, a business located a few kilometres 
east of Wagmatcook where a discussion ensued. Constable Bernard said he did 
not hear the conversation because he stayed in his police vehicle while Staff 
Sergeant Thompson spoke with Constable Frenette. 
 
Staff Sergeant Thompson determined that they would drive to Katie Lane, block 
the roadway and attempt to evacuate any people in the surrounding houses and 
set up a perimeter around the Simon residence.  It is unclear how much specific 
direction was provided to the constables by Staff Sergeant Thompson in terms of 
how he wanted them to carry out these instructions. 
 
Constable Bernard felt there was no plan or direction provided, while Constable 
Frenette felt he received general direction to go and “see […] what’s goin’ on.”  
Staff Sergeant Thompson said he had a “quick chat of what we were facing” and 
about the potential for weapons at the scene.  Staff Sergeant Thompson’s stated 
intent in meeting at the Red Barn was to ensure that the three of them were 
aware of the circumstances giving rise to the call for assistance. 
 
Staff Sergeant Thompson and constables Bernard and Frenette then drove to 
Wagmatcook to the intersection of the Trans-Canada Highway and Katie Lane 
where they set up the marked police vehicles to block access into the area.  
Constable Bernard began to canvass door to door to request people to leave the 
immediate area of the Simon residence, while Constable Frenette made his way 
to the area of the Simon residence to surveil the home. 
 
A group of members of Mr. Simon’s family as well as people from the community 
soon gathered at a nearby gas station located on the Trans-Canada Highway 
near Katie Lane.6  A number of other on-duty RCMP members from neighbouring 
detachments were informed via police radio of the developing situation and 
began to converge on the Wagmatcook area as support for the Baddeck 
members.  Aside from Constable Bernard’s initial telephone conversation with 
Ms. Isadore and Ms. MacKay, it does not appear that at any time did the RCMP 
members approach Mr. Simon’s family members to attempt to determine 
Mr. Simon’s state of mind, his intentions, or his level of sobriety. 
                                               
6 An aerial view of the area surrounding Mr. Simon’s residence may be found at Appendix F. 
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Following the notification of immediate neighbours, Constable Bernard 
telephoned Mr. Simon and spoke with him in Mi’kmaq for a length of time.  
Mr. Simon told Constable Bernard that he was fine, but said that he would shoot 
himself if he saw police in the area. 
 
Constable Frenette made his way to the area of the Simon residence alone.  
Notwithstanding Constable Frenette’s initial concern that Mr. Simon might shoot 
him if he (Simon) knew Constable Frenette was outside the residence, Constable 
Frenette opted to move closer to the house to observe Mr. Simon’s actions 
inside. 
 
At 9:45 p.m., Constable Frenette informed Staff Sergeant Thompson by radio 
that he (Frenette) was behind Walter Isadore’s house, next door to the Simon 
residence.  As Constable Frenette crept closer to the Simon house, the volume 
of his voice could be heard over the police radio to become lower as the incident 
progressed, until he was finally speaking in a whisper.  Constable Frenette was 
the only member deployed to observe the house at that time because 
Constable Bernard was attempting to make telephone contact with Mr. Simon.  
Other assisting members had not yet arrived on scene. 
 
At 9:48 p.m., the police radio dispatcher asked Constable Frenette for his 
location.  His response was indecipherable.  At 9:56 p.m., Constable Frenette 
said in an almost normal voice, “I can hear him [Mr. Simon] talking inside.  Is he 
talking to us?”  Staff Sergeant Thompson replied, “Negative.”  
 
At 10 p.m., Staff Sergeant Thompson requested that the Emergency Response 
Team (ERT) be called out. The ERT deployment will be discussed below.  
 
At 10:04 p.m., after Constable Bernard spoke with Mr. Simon by telephone, Staff 
Sergeant Thompson sent Constable Bernard toward the Simon residence to 
observe along with Constable Frenette in case Mr. Simon opted to leave with a 
firearm.  The intent was to control the situation and establish a visual perimeter, 
but no specific direction was given to the constables with respect to keeping an 
appropriate distance between themselves and the Simon residence. 
 
According to Constable Bernard’s statement, when he arrived at the house he 
observed Constable Frenette kneeling at the side of the house with his pistol 
drawn.  Given the circumstances, his proximity to the house, and the fact that he 
was alone, I do not believe that it was unreasonable for Constable Frenette to 
draw his service pistol. 
 
Upon his arrival, Constable Frenette informed Constable Bernard to stay at the 
east side of the house while he went closer to the deck to observe.  Staff 
Sergeant Thompson was not aware of this conversation because it took place 
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verbally between the two members, but he would have been aware of the radio 
traffic from Constable Frenette as discussed here. 
 
At 10:12 p.m., Staff Sergeant Thompson asked if Constable Bernard was with 
Constable Frenette.  Constable Frenette indicated that Constable Bernard was 
with him, but said he was near an open window and his radio volume was “way 
down.”  Staff Sergeant Thompson acknowledged this and said to them, “Sit tight.  
ERT is on their way.”  Constable Frenette appears to have acknowledged the 
transmission, but later stated that he had not heard it. 
 
Constable Frenette also said in his statement to ICIT investigators that he had 
obtained permission via the police radio from Staff Sergeant Thompson to leave 
his assigned post to go closer to the Simon house to get a better view.  No such 
transmission was recorded.  As noted, however, there is no doubt that Staff 
Sergeant Thompson knew over time that Constable Frenette was not posted 
near his police vehicle, which was parked blocking one of the entrances to Katie 
Lane. 
 
Analysis 
 
There are a number of issues which arose at the outset of this incident.  The first 
of these is Constable Bernard’s decision to attend the Simon residence without 
waiting for Constable Frenette, his backup, to arrive.  While at the time of this 
incident the RCMP was in the process of formalizing and approving its national 
policy regarding backup, it had already issued a bulletin to its members directing 
that effective December 19, 2007, occurrences involving display of a weapon or 
a subject posing a threat to self or others requires a multiple member response. 
The bulletin, attached as Appendix G, further states: “The new policy does not 
preclude a member from taking action prior to the arrival of assistance based on 
his/her risk assessment and the Incident Management Intervention Model (IM/IM) 
– for example imminent risk of grievous bodily harm or death present during a 
domestic dispute.”  
 
Based upon a thorough review of the information before me, it would appear that 
Constable Bernard attended the Simon residence without first conducting a 
proper risk assessment and without having the benefit of backup present.  It is 
acknowledged that Constable Bernard had prior dealings with Mr. Simon and this 
may have contributed to his decision to approach the home of an intoxicated 
individual threatening harm to himself and with access to firearms. 
 
Indeed, upon peering into the window of the room where Mr. Simon was located, 
Constable Bernard saw a rifle on the bed. In his statement, Constable Bernard 
states, “[…] holy geez there was a… Right there in front of me was a firearm so it 
was pointing towards the window and I looked at it […] and I looked on the bed 
and I looked at him […].” He quickly surmised that Mr. Simon was “not in the right 
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state of mind.”  He noted a rifle on the bed and properly decided to seek further 
assistance and departed the scene. 
 
Staff Sergeant Thompson, when contacted by Constable Bernard, directed the 
latter to leave the scene to pick him up at his home.  There is no explanation of 
why Staff Sergeant Thompson made such a request, which resulted in 
Constable Bernard entirely removing himself from the area of a high risk 
situation.  According to Staff Sergeant Thompson’s statement, 
Constable Bernard had informed him that “he had a strange feelin’ that […] 
things weren’t right here […].”   
 
Once Staff Sergeant Thompson became engaged in the incident, it was his 
responsibility, as the senior member,7 to devise an operational plan and control 
the scene.  The information before the Commission indicates that the plan 
formulated by Staff Sergeant Thompson was extremely limited considering the 
circumstances.  Communication among the members providing scene security 
was crucial, particularly when the members had turned down the volume on their 
radios.  In such a circumstance, it became even more important that each 
member knew his own role and the roles of the other members.  To achieve that 
end and to be able to adequately supervise the actions of the members involved, 
it would have been more reasonable for Staff Sergeant Thompson to devise a 
more thorough operational plan. That is, one which clearly articulated the 
respective roles of the members involved and who would be managing the 
situation. The plan should have been clearly communicated to each member at 
the scene, and there is no indication that this occurred.   
 
Accordingly, I find that Staff Sergeant Thompson failed to ensure that an 
adequate operational plan was in place and communicated to the members at 
the scene.  I am concerned that the lack of an adequate operational plan, or at 
least the lack of communication of such a plan to the members, may have 
contributed to unnecessary risks to police officer safety. 
 
Finally, it is apparent from a review of the information that Staff Sergeant 
Thompson permitted constables Frenette and Bernard to position themselves 
and remain too close to the Simon residence.  In so doing, Staff Sergeant 
Thompson failed to adequately assess the risks posed to police and public 
safety, contrary to the IM/IM. Staff Sergeant Thompson had properly requested 
that an Emergency Response Team respond (discussed below) to the situation 
of what had been reported as an intoxicated individual who had threatened 
suicide and had ready access to firearms.  He had been informed by one of his 
constables that “things weren’t right.”  Under the circumstances, the intent to 
control and observe the scene was prudent and appropriate.  However, allowing 
the members to remain positioned in such close proximity to the residence 

                                               
7 Staff Sergeant Thompson then had over 25 years of experience and Constable Bernard, 
15 years. Constable Frenette then had only about two years of service. 
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placed them at an unacceptable risk.  As will be discussed below, this was 
recognized by Corporal Mark MacPherson. 
 
FINDING: Constable Bernard placed himself at unnecessary risk by failing 
to wait for the backup that had been called out, prior to attending the 
Simon residence. 
 
FINDING: Staff Sergeant Thompson failed to ensure that an adequate 
operational plan had been put in place and understood by the responding 
members prior to their deployment. 
 
FINDING: Staff Sergeant Thompson permitted RCMP members to place 
Mr. Simon and themselves in unnecessary jeopardy by allowing them to 
position themselves and remain too close to the Simon residence. 

B. Entry into the Simon residence 
 
Constable Frenette had told Staff Sergeant Thompson by radio that he and 
Constable Bernard were together; however, at that time, they were actually on 
opposite sides of the house.  While Constable Bernard took cover farther back 
from the house, Constable Frenette stepped onto the deck, a ground-level 
structure which covers most of the south side of the Simon house, to better 
observe.  Constable Bernard observed the house from the side.  Additionally, just 
prior to entering the Simon residence, Constable Frenette did not know exactly 
where Constable Bernard was located. 
 
The audio tapes of the radio transmissions clearly indicate that prior to deciding 
to enter the house, Constable Frenette was speaking at barely above a whisper 
while close to the residence.  At 10:26 p.m. he told the other members that 
Mr. Simon was sitting on the toilet with no weapons and asked, “Do you want me 
to go in?”  Staff Sergeant Thompson appeared not to have heard 
Constable Frenette’s transmission and some seconds later he asked 
Constable Frenette, “What are you seeing in there?” 
 
Constable Frenette responded that Mr. Simon was sitting on the toilet with no 
weapons in sight.  Constable Frenette then said that he saw an open window and 
said, “Now’s the time.”  After some 35 seconds, Staff Sergeant Thompson’s 
response was, “How big is this guy.”  In his statement to ICIT investigators, Staff 
Sergeant Thompson indicated that because he did not know Mr. Simon, he 
wanted to get an idea of his size.  He also specified that he did not instruct 
Constable Frenette to enter the residence. 
 
This exchange was noted by Corporal Mark MacPherson of the neighbouring 
RCMP detachment at Inverness, who had arrived on the scene to assist.  While 
sitting in the police vehicle with Staff Sergeant Thompson, Corporal MacPherson 
remarked on three occasions over the course of the exchanges between Staff 
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Sergeant Thompson and Constable Frenette that Constable Frenette was too 
close to the house.  He remarked that Staff Sergeant Thompson should order 
him to pull back because the proximity of Constable Frenette could lead to a 
situation in which someone could be shot.   
 
Staff Sergeant Thompson knew or should have known that Constable Frenette 
was immediately outside the house and that Mr. Simon was inside, in possession 
of at least one firearm and potentially suicidal.  Constable Frenette even 
whispered into the radio at one point that he was “[…] getting pretty close.” 
 
The obvious question is whether it is reasonable to conclude that Staff Sergeant 
Thompson knew or should have known that Constable Frenette would 
unilaterally enter the Simon residence to confront Mr. Simon.  The available 
information, i.e. the radio logs and statements of the involved members, indicates 
that Staff Sergeant Thompson did not know that Constable Frenette was 
planning to enter the residence without instructions to do so.  Nonetheless, given 
Constable Frenette’s comments that Mr. Simon was currently indisposed and 
vulnerable to arrest, and given Constable Frenette’s lack of experience, it would 
have been prudent for Staff Sergeant Thompson to specifically order him to back 
away from the house and not to enter, or at the very least to enquire as to his 
whereabouts more specifically.  
 
It must be recalled that the events unfolded quickly in a very fluid environment. 
Corporal MacPherson described in his statement to ICIT investigators that Staff 
Sergeant Thompson told Constable Frenette over the police radio that there was 
an open window around the back of the Simon house.  The radio audio log 
confirms that in less than a minute after the exchanges described above, an 
unidentified RCMP member said to Constable Frenette that both doors were 
locked and a window at the back was open.  In light of Corporal MacPherson’s 
statement, it is reasonable to conclude that the unidentified member was Staff 
Sergeant Thompson.  In any event, shortly thereafter, Constable Frenette 
entered the house through the front window. 
 
Analysis 
 
As a rationale for entering the house, Constable Frenette indicated in his 
statement to the ICIT investigators that he had dealt with Mr. Simon on previous 
occasions.  He said that Mr. Simon had the potential to be violent and that 
Mr. Simon would at times attempt to intimidate the police with his physical size, 
but would then calm down and cooperate.  Constable Frenette said that as he 
was listening to Mr. Simon on the phone while observing from close outside the 
residence, he could hear Mr. Simon laughing about the police being outside, 
which increased Constable Frenette’s comfort level in approaching the house. 
Constable Frenette said he wanted to talk to Mr. Simon, believing that the 
situation could be handled peacefully by reasoning with him.  Constable Frenette 
told the ICIT investigators that after reporting that Mr. Simon was indisposed, he 
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opted to unilaterally enter the house, believing there would be no better 
opportunity to resolve the matter. 
 
This is particularly troubling given that Mr. Simon did not pose an imminent threat 
to anyone. While there is no question that this was a critical incident, there is little 
indication that Mr. Simon was about to kill or grievously injure either himself or 
anyone else.  The situation did not call for immediate police entry into the home. 
Moreover, it was certainly not Constable Frenette’s responsibility to confront 
Mr. Simon in order to resolve the situation. ERT had been called in to do so. 
 
Also notable is the fact that Constable Frenette acted without seeking specific 
permission from or even informing Staff Sergeant Thompson or the other 
members present that he was about to enter the house.  In taking these actions, 
Constable Frenette put every person involved—Mr. Simon, himself, the other 
police officers and civilians—in harm’s way. 
 
Since the other members present did not know what his intentions were, they 
could not know that Constable Frenette was entering the home.  
Constable Frenette acted unilaterally and went ahead without having any backup 
from the other members or any escape plan should the confrontation go awry (as 
it did).  He knew that Mr. Simon was a very large man with access to firearms. 
He also knew that Mr. Simon was intoxicated and likely not thinking rationally. 
 
Contrary to the principles of the IM/IM, Constable Frenette failed to adequately 
assess the risk inherent in his actions. In so doing, he failed to properly consider 
the unacceptable risks his decision to enter the home would pose to police and 
public safety. While police officers have broad discretion in terms of their decision 
making, I find that in this case, Constable Frenette’s decision to enter Mr. 
Simon’s home was neither reasonable nor justified based on the circumstances.  
Finally, notwithstanding Constable Frenette’s statement that he believed he 
would be able to resolve the matter peacefully, I find that this rationale does not 
overcome the risk associated with his actions. 
 
Moreover, up to the point at which Constable Frenette radioed that Mr. Simon 
was indisposed and on the toilet, and made statements such as, “Now’s the 
time,” I accept that Staff Sergeant Thompson could not reasonably have 
expected that Constable Frenette would unilaterally enter the house.  I also 
recognize that this situation was evolving very quickly.  Upon hearing that 
transmission, however, it is reasonable to expect that Staff Sergeant Thompson 
would have anticipated the actions of Constable Frenette and therefore should 
have taken steps to provide him with direction, or at the very least confirm his 
intentions when it became clear he had the potential to act unilaterally. 
 
Finally, it is evident that the primary issues in this case were judgment related 
rather than functions of policy; however, in light of the critical role policy plays in 
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the shaping of police behaviour, I am pleased to note “H” Division’s recent 
initiative with respect to developing a policy for armed and barricaded individuals.  
 

FINDING: Staff Sergeant Thompson failed to order Constable Frenette to 
pull back from the residence when he knew or ought to have known that 
Constable Frenette was contemplating an entry to the house to apprehend 
Mr. Simon. 
 
FINDING: Constable Frenette acted in an inappropriate manner by deciding 
to enter the Simon house with no clear instructions, notice to other 
members, backup, means of escape or operational plan.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: That Constable Frenette undergo full remedial 
training in the IM/IM as well as the CAPRA model.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: That Staff Sergeant Thompson be provided training 
in operational supervision of junior members and in critical incident 
planning and management. 

C. Grounds for entry 
 
As previously outlined, the RCMP’s Operations Manual provides members with 
guidance concerning arrest, including the authority to enter a dwelling house to 
effect an arrest.  The policy correctly points out that during the normal course of 
events, prior judicial authorization is required in the form of a warrant to enter a 
residence for the purpose of arresting and individual.  
 
The common law has long upheld the principle that “a person’s home is his/her 
castle,” to which the law ascribes the highest possible privacy interest.8  For this 
reason, the courts have set up safeguards to ensure that when the police attend 
the home of an individual to effect an arrest, that individual’s privacy rights are 
protected.  Like the public generally, the police have an implied licence to 
approach someone’s door and knock for the purposes of communicating with the 
occupant(s).  This implied licence ends at the door of the residence.9  An officer 
should never use this implied licence to open a door and step into a residence 
without permission, even for the limited purpose of communicating with the 
occupant. 
 
There are basically three scenarios where the police are authorized to enter a 
dwelling.  The most obvious case is where the police obtain informed consent 
from someone who has the authority to provide that consent, such as the 
homeowner.  Secondly, the police may enter a dwelling if they have an entry 
warrant or a search warrant.  Finally, in very limited exigent circumstances, a 

                                               
8 R. v. Kokesch, [1990] 3 S.C.R. 3. 
9 R. v. Evans, [1996] 1 S.C.R. 8. 
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police officer may enter a dwelling.  Exigent circumstances exist in situations 
where, for example, there is a need to prevent imminent bodily harm or death, or 
the destruction of evidence. Such a situation may arise when the police are 
responding to a disconnected 9-1-1 call.10  Exigent circumstances may also exist 
when a hot pursuit exists in response to the commission of an offence11 or when 
the safety of police officers in the course of their duties is involved.12  
Additionally, a police officer may enter a dwelling to search and seize firearms 
when, for reasons of safety, it is impractical to obtain a warrant.13 
 
On its face, the circumstances of the Simon shooting would tend to make one 
reflect on whether exigent circumstances were present: whether bodily harm or 
death to any person were imminent.  At the time of entry, Mr. Simon was not 
carrying the rifle nor was there any evidence that he had pointed it at anyone 
throughout the incident.  He was not threatening immediate harm to himself or to 
anyone else. 
 
That situation, however, could have changed in an instant.  Mr. Simon was aware 
of the presence of police officers outside his home and refused to cooperate with 
police.  It was known that Mr. Simon was intoxicated and had threatened suicide 
if he saw police in the area of his home.  As a result, I accept that the members 
at the scene chose to treat the events as being exigent in nature.  The facts as 
presented did not lend themselves to a laissez-faire attitude by the police, and 
the members could not simply leave and come back another day to deal with 
Mr. Simon.  After Constable Bernard spoke with Mr. Simon again by telephone 
and relayed the information to Staff Sergeant Thompson, Staff 
Sergeant Thompson rightly took the position that the incident had to be managed 
and that ERT should be called out. 
 
The questions of whether legal grounds existed to enter the home versus 
whether or not the unilateral decision by Constable Frenette to enter was 
appropriate are different.  The ICIT review of the situation (based on advice from 
Nova Scotia Justice) concluded that the likelihood of conviction of any criminal 
charge against Constable Frenette, or any other member present that night, was 
not sufficiently high and no charge was laid.14 
 
It is important to note that the decision of whether or not to initiate criminal or civil 
proceedings against any of the persons involved in the shooting of Mr. Simon is 

                                               
10 R. v. Godoy, [1991] 1 S.C.R. 311. 
11 R. v. Feeney, [1997] 2 S.C.R. 13. 
12 R. v. Feeney, [1997] 2 S.C.R. 13 at para. 52. 
13Subsection 117.04(c) Criminal Code. 
14 In this matter, the Nova Scotia Crown counsel, on behalf of the Nova Scotia Minister of Justice, 
reviewed the evidence and determined that the likelihood of conviction of criminal charges 
against any of the police officers present at the Simon home that evening had not been met.  As a 
result, the Crown counsel did not recommend laying charges against anyone with respect to the 
incident. 
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outside the scope of my mandate and accordingly will not be reviewed in this 
report.  

D. The shooting 
 
As he entered the Simon residence through the window with his service pistol 
drawn, Constable Frenette said he tripped on the curtains and fell or rolled over 
the couch into the living room.  At that point, Mr. Simon heard the commotion and 
exited the bathroom. 
 
According to Constable Frenette’s statement, he identified himself by saying 
“Jeremy, RCMP.” Mr. Simon then turned toward the back bedroom, the same 
room in which Constable Bernard said he had seen a rifle on the bed when he 
first approached the residence, and picked up the rifle.  He turned toward 
Constable Frenette, who reportedly shouted, “John… No, John” at Mr. Simon.  
Constable Frenette ordered Mr. Simon to “Get to the ground”.  Mr. Simon did not 
comply. 
 
At this point, Constable Frenette was committed to act.  Given that Mr. Simon 
had entered the bedroom, picked up the rifle and turned back to the main living 
area, Constable Frenette had no opportunity to attempt to physically take the rifle 
from Mr. Simon or to exit the room safely. 
 
Mr. Simon began to raise the rifle and point it at Constable Frenette, at which 
point Constable Frenette discharged his pistol and shot Mr. Simon for the first 
time.  Mr. Simon continued to raise the rifle and Constable Frenette shot him 
again.  When Mr. Simon still continued to raise the rifle, Constable Frenette shot 
him a third and final time.  Mr. Simon then fell to his knees and onto his chest in 
the vicinity of the doorway to the back bedroom. 
 
Constable Frenette fired the shots at approximately 10:27 p.m., which is the time 
that shouting can be heard on the police radio.  In the ICIT Report this appears to 
be attributed to Constable Frenette shouting, “No, no, no […].”  In his statement, 
Constable Bernard said that to summon assistance he shouted, “Shots fired” into 
his microphone immediately after he heard the shots. 
 
Witnesses outside said they heard the shots come in quick succession.  One 
witness said in her first statement that the succession of shots was slow, and in a 
subsequent statement said that they came in rapid succession.  I cannot rely 
entirely on the recollections of witnesses, potentially influenced by the stressful 
and emotional environment, with respect to the speed with which the shots were 
fired.  However, all are agreed, supported by the forensic analysis, that three 
shots were fired and that all three struck Mr. Simon. 
 
The autopsy report shows that one bullet struck Mr. Simon in the left hand 
between the thumb and forefinger, then lodged itself in his left forearm.  Prior to 
striking Mr. Simon, the bullet struck the forestock of the rifle.  Analysis indicates 
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that the trajectory of the bullet and the location of the damage to the rifle and to 
Mr. Simon’s hand and arm are consistent with the rifle being held parallel or 
close to parallel with the floor.  Further, the location of the damage is consistent 
with the rifle being pointed at Constable Frenette.  Accordingly, there is no 
question that Mr. Simon raised the rifle and that it was pointed at 
Constable Frenette when the shots were fired. 
 
The other two shots fired by Constable Frenette struck Mr. Simon in the chest.  It 
cannot be determined which of the succession of shots struck Mr. Simon in the 
hand and arm versus in the chest. 
 
At 10:28 p.m., within seconds of the shots being fired, Constable Frenette called 
over the police radio, “Everybody in now, all the members.  Come on.” Upon 
hearing the shots, Constable Bernard rushed to the front door of the house and, 
the door being locked, kicked it open.  Concurrently, the other members who had 
been securing the scene15 converged on the house.  Constable Bernard 
observed Mr. Simon lying face down in the doorway to the back bedroom and 
Constable Frenette on top of him with his gun still drawn.  He noted a rifle lying 
partially under Mr. Simon and a live rifle shell on the floor.  Constable Bernard 
assisted Constable Frenette in placing handcuffs on Mr. Simon.  
Constable Frenette checked the rifle for ammunition and found that it was not 
loaded.  He then put the empty rifle on the bed in the back bedroom while the 
members tended to Mr. Simon. 
 
When he came into the room, Corporal MacPherson directed that the handcuffs 
be removed and, along with constables Bernard and Frenette, dragged 
Mr. Simon out into a more open area of the living room to begin providing first 
aid.  At 10:29 p.m., Corporal MacPherson can be heard asking the Operational 
Communications Centre (OCC) to call Emergency Medical Services (EMS) to 
dispatch an ambulance.  He began to perform first aid.  At 10:30 p.m., Staff 
Sergeant Thompson reiterated the need for EMS. 
 
Analysis 
 
I have reviewed and accept the findings of the Use of Force Report prepared by 
the subject matter experts from the Halifax Regional Police (HRP) and RCMP.  A 
synopsis of the report, which was provided to Superintendent Burns of the ICIT 
on July 27, 2009 and to RCMP CROPS very shortly thereafter, may be found at 
Appendix H to this report. 
 
As previously discussed, section 25 of the Criminal Code, as supported by 
RCMP policy, authorizes a police officer to use lethal force in situations where 
the member objectively and reasonably believes that such force is necessary for 
his own protection or for that of another person.  In light of the fact that Mr. Simon 
was pointing a rifle at Constable Frenette, it is without question that the member 
                                               
15 S/Sgt. Thompson, Cpl. MacPherson and Cst. C. Bezaire. 
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did have a reasonably held belief that his life was in jeopardy and that the use of 
force was reasonable. 
 
FINDING: Constable Frenette had sufficient grounds to believe his life was 
in jeopardy and that the decision to resort to the use of lethal force by 
discharging his service pistol at Mr. Simon was appropriate in the 
circumstances. 
 

E. Comments regarding the deployment of the Emergency Response 
Team (ERT) 
 
At 10 p.m., Staff Sergeant Thompson contacted the OCC and requested that the 
ERT, including a negotiator, be called.  Within a short period of time, Staff 
Sergeant Thompson was contacted on his cell phone by Sergeant Bruce 
MacDonald, the ERT commander.  The two discussed the situation and Sergeant 
MacDonald agreed that the ERT should be deployed. 
 
Sergeant MacDonald then contacted the “H” Division Support Services Officer, 
Superintendent David Roper (since retired), who agreed with the call-out and 
approved it, as required by RCMP policy.  Sergeant MacDonald requested a 
police negotiator as well as a police service dog in the event those services were 
needed.  Prior to Sergeant MacDonald being able to muster the ERT and depart 
Halifax for Wagmatcook, Mr. Simon had been shot.  Consequently, the ERT 
call-out was cancelled. 
 
Analysis 
 
I note that travel time from Halifax to Wagmatcook for the RCMP ERT, as 
estimated by Sergeant MacDonald, is approximately three and a half to four 
hours.  Another ERT is maintained by the Cape Breton Regional Police (CBRP) 
in Sydney, NS, approximately one hour away. Mr. Simon had been shot well 
before even the closer ERT could assemble and arrive at Wagmatcook, but it 
should be noted that the CBRP ERT was never contacted. 
 
An arrangement was entered between the RCMP and the Cape Breton Regional 
Police for ERT coverage during the 2010 Olympics because RCMP ERT 
members were deployed elsewhere.  This arrangement was not continued post-
Olympics.  The RCMP may wish to consider entering into a similar arrangement 
in order to provide a more timely ERT response to all areas of the province.  
While muster and travel time for the ERT would have no negative impact in 
certain circumstances, in some cases this type of delay could be detrimental both 
to public and police officer safety.  The RCMP is recognized for working 
cooperatively and in an integrated fashion with other police forces in Canada and 
around the world.  Hence, while there may be resource implications involved, this 
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type of arrangement could be workable and beneficial to the RCMP and those 
whom it serves in the province of Nova Scotia. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: The RCMP may wish to consider entering into a 
bilateral agreement with non-RCMP ERTs to ensure adequate and timely 
coverage in the event of an incident requiring the ERT. 
 
SECOND ISSUE: Whether the RCMP members involved in the investigation 
of this incident conducted an investigation that was adequate, and free of 
actual or perceived conflict of interest, whether they responded in a timely 
fashion, and whether their conduct adhered to the standards set out in 
section 37 of the RCMP Act. 

A. Attendance of RCMP Major Crime Unit 
 
Subsequent to the shooting and through EMS, a call was made to Ms. Elizabeth 
GooGoo, a medical first responder in Wagmatcook.  EMS had initiated a process 
whereby a local resident, trained in first aid, is summoned to the scene of a 
serious medical emergency to provide first aid pending the arrival of the 
ambulance which could be some distance away.  Ms. GooGoo arrived at the 
scene shortly before the ambulance and provided materials from her first aid kit 
to the RCMP members.  In this case, first aid consisted of attempting to stem the 
bleeding from the wounds to Mr. Simon’s chest. 
 
The ambulance arrived at 10:43 p.m., at which time Ms. GooGoo assisted the 
ambulance attendants when they took over from Corporal MacPherson, who 
prior to the arrival of EMS and with the other members present, had been 
administering first aid. 
 
Mr. Simon was then transferred by ambulance to the local hospital in Baddeck, 
approximately 12 kilometres away, where he passed away at 12:40 a.m.  
 
As first aid was being provided, Staff Sergeant Thompson coordinated with 
“H” Division the cancellation of the ERT, the call-out of the RCMP North East 
Nova Major Crime Unit (MCU), and the initiation of the ICIT.  He also directed 
Corporal MacPherson to take control of the shooting scene, including the 
protection of the scene, arranging for the preservation of evidence, removing the 
involved members as soon as practicable, and creating a scene management 
log.  These matters will be discussed in more detail below. 
 
Corporal MacPherson sought to remove Constable Frenette from the immediate 
area of Mr. Simon, and therefore asked him to tape off the area.  
Corporal MacPherson also started a scene log to track the entrance or exit of 
anyone who came into the scene. 
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The members of the MCU arrived on scene in the early hours of December 3rd to 
take over the investigation.  Although the MCU arrived and began to take 
investigative steps, the process of calling out the ICIT had also been 
commenced.  MCU members in the North East Nova area (which includes Cape 
Breton) could be on scene, and in fact were, several hours before the ICIT 
members who were dispatched from Halifax. 
 
The MCU investigation, although brief, was conducted using Major Case 
Management (MCM) techniques.  Major Case Management16 is “[…] a 
methodology for managing major cases that provides accountability, clear goals 
and objectives, planning, allocation of resources and control over the direction, 
speed and flow of the investigation.” Major case management techniques have 
been adopted as a “best practice” by virtually all police forces in Canada and in 
many other parts of the world.17 
 
The scene was already being protected by uniformed members from other 
detachments, and MCU members began to take statements from the involved 
members rather than to defer to ICIT investigators from an outside agency.  The 
Commission was not able to ask the MCU team leader for his rationale in taking 
these statements because he declined to be interviewed by the Commission.18 
This notwithstanding, I have no evidence to suggest that bias or subjectivity 
played a role in how the MCU investigation was carried out.  My review of the 
statements taken suggests they were carried out professionally based on the 
information then available.   
 
FINDING: There is no evidence of bias or subjectivity in the conduct of the 
RCMP MCU investigation. 

B. Family access to Mr. Simon’s body 
 
An issue was raised with the Commission concerning the inability of the family to 
see Mr. Simon prior to his death and view the body after Mr. Simon expired.  
Mi’kmaq custom is for the family to pray over the person about to pass away and 
to see the body before burial. 
 
According to Staff Sergeant Thompson’s statement, he arrived at the hospital 
after midnight to find one or two RCMP members present along with 

                                               
16 CPC Report Police Investigating Police, April 2010 http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/prr/rep/rev/chair-
pre/pipR/appk-eng.aspx 
17  For additional background information on major case management, please see the report 
cited ibid. 
18 I note that in September 2010, partly in response to recommendations made by the 
Commission in previous decisions, the RCMP amended its Operational Manual to include a policy 
on the Responsibility to Report when members are involved in incidents involving serious injury or 
death.  The policy attempts to reconcile the legal rights of all Canadians (including police officers) 
with the need for police officers to account to their superiors with respect to the actions they have 
taken. 
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approximately 30 to 40 members of the community.  He also noted that the 
community members were praying with a priest, and he was of the view that the 
situation was under control.  Although he did not specifically state it, his concern 
appears to have been to retain control of Mr. Simon at the hospital prior and 
subsequent to his death in order that any evidence which may have been 
obtainable from his person would not be tainted. 
 
At 1:28 a.m., Constable Catherine Bezaire contacted Corporal Firth of the MCU 
to ask whether the family could be allowed to say prayers over the body of 
Mr. Simon.  At 2 a.m., she received a call from Sergeant Ken Taker of the MCU 
stating that direct access to the body could not be allowed (to protect evidence), 
but that the family and the priest could gather to say prayers in the hallway 
outside the room where Mr. Simon’s body lay.  This was done at 2 a.m.  The 
door to the room containing Mr. Simon’s remains was open. 
 
At 8:05 a.m., family members were allowed to see Mr. Simon’s remains, which 
were contained in a body bag, but only allowed to see his face and not to touch 
it.  The family reported to the Commission that the zipper of the bag was pulled 
up tight to his chin, appearing to pinch his flesh.  In addition, there was a strong 
odour of feces.  This was an unfortunate situation which will be marked indelibly 
on those persons who saw it. Consequently, the Commission would encourage 
the RCMP to do its utmost in giving effect to familial requests in such 
circumstances, while at the same time ensuring that vital evidence is not 
contaminated in any way.  
 
Superintendent Burns said that his team played no part in the showing.  Sergeant 
Taker gave permission for this viewing but did not consent to an interview with 
the Commission; therefore, this situation could not be put to him.  I surmise, 
however, that this state of events was necessary because the autopsy had not 
yet been conducted, and making the body more presentable could have 
disturbed or affected evidence. 
 
Mr. Simon’s body was removed from Baddeck at 8:40 a.m. on December 3, 2008 
and taken to Halifax, where an autopsy was performed that same day. 
 
FINDING: It was reasonable in the circumstances for the RCMP to restrict 
access to Mr. Simon’s body. 
 
It is incumbent upon me to make a further comment with respect to the overall 
handling of the incident.  The audio tapes of the radio transmissions and 
telephone calls made by the dispatcher that night demonstrate clearly to me her 
professionalism and dedication to duty.  The OCC dispatcher is the person who 
provides the link between the operational units “on the ground” and those not 
present at the scene.  On this night, the OCC dispatcher did an outstanding job 
of making sure that those who needed to be informed were informed.  She did 
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not pass on extraneous information or speculate, but rather she provided factual 
and succinct information both to those not at the scene and to those who were. 
 
In my view, she is to be commended for her efforts. 

C. Integrated Critical Incident Team (ICIT) 

 
MOA Between RCMP “H” Division and Halifax Regional Police 
 
At the time of this incident, the Province of Nova Scotia did not have in place a 
separate, stand-alone agency to investigate serious incidents involving police 
officers in that province.  Accordingly, in 2007 a memorandum of agreement 
(MOA) was signed between the RCMP “H” Division and the Halifax Regional 
Police (HRP).  The intent of the MOA is to ensure that in a critical incident 
involving a police officer, a police agency does not investigate its own member 
and to ensure that the lead for such investigation is managed by an outside 
police agency.  The MOA continues to be in force; however, as of mid-2010 it 
was being reviewed for possible amendments.  I note that on October 28, 2010, 
the Nova Scotia Minister of Justice proposed provincial legislation to create an 
independent and civilian-led Serious Incident Response Team.19   
 
The preamble to the current MOA sets out the parties’ mutual agreement as 
follows: 
 

WHEREAS HRP and the RCMP agree it is important to maintain public 
confidence in the investigation of incidents involving police action causing 
death or bodily harm; 
 
AND WHEREAS an open, transparent and thorough investigation is 
paramount to maintaining public confidence; 
 
AND WHEREAS a[n] integrated investigation with an independent police 
agency only adds further credibility to the unbiased nature of such an 
investigation; 
 
AND WHEREAS an open, transparent and thorough investigation to the 
fullest extent possible is in the best interest of the Officers involved. 

 
The MOA established a protocol for each agency through which the lead for 
investigating an incident involving one of its members would fall to the other 
signing party known, for the purposes of that investigation, as the “Host Agency.”  
The protocol does not require each signatory to conduct in toto the investigative 
function, but does require each to take the lead on critical incidents involving the 
other. 
 

                                               
19  Press releases, Government of Nova Scotia.  See 
http://gov.ns.ca/news/details.asp?id=20101028004. 
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A critical incident is defined as “[…] the death, imminent death, or bodily harm 
allegedly caused to an individual as a result of a shooting or other action on the 
part of a police officer.” An independent agency is defined as “[…] the Agency 
without officers involved in the Critical Incident.” 
 
The role of the ICIT is to conduct a thorough and unbiased investigation using 
Major Case Management techniques, and make a determination as to whether or 
not criminal charges are warranted in any particular matter.  In addition, the 
Officer in Charge of the ICIT is required to make any recommendations he or she 
sees as appropriate with respect to policy, training, operational issues, etc. 
 
Further, the Officer in Charge of the ICIT is required to identify to the other 
agency any disciplinary or performance issues which come to his or her attention 
“arising from the facts of the investigation.” 
 
The full MOA as it existed at the time of the shooting is appended at Appendix I.  
The Commission understands that the MOA is under review and will be 
amended.  In light of the pending creation of an independent investigative body in 
Nova Scotia, however, it may be the case that this MOA will no longer be 
relevant. 

D. ICIT investigation and report 
 
Concurrent with the arrival of the MCU members to take control of the 
investigation, the MOA between “H” Division and the Halifax Regional Police 
(HRP) was invoked by “H” Division.  Superintendent Michael Burns (now retired) 
of the HRP was designated as the ICIT Officer in Charge.  He had been the ICIT 
Officer in Charge with respect to two previous ICIT call-outs.  
Superintendent Burns was contacted at home shortly after midnight on 
December 3rd and subsequently spoke with Superintendent David Roper at 
“H” Division for his initial briefing.  Shortly after 1 a.m. on that day, HRP was 
notified and a call-out was begun to organize the ICIT and begin making 
arrangements to travel to Wagmatcook. 
 
In an interview with the Commission, Superintendent Burns commented on the 
fact that the ICIT involved both HRP and RCMP members.  He stated that 
although HRP could have provided sufficient resources to conduct the entire 
investigation into the Simon shooting, to do so would not have been appropriate 
given that it would have depleted HRP resources to the point that in the event a 
serious incident occurred in Halifax, HRP would have had insufficient resources 
to respond.  In his view, and as contemplated by the MOA, integrating HRP and 
RCMP members was the appropriate process. 
 
At 6 a.m., HRP members assembled in Halifax for a briefing from 
Superintendent Burns, then travelled to the Baddeck RCMP Detachment.  By 
11 a.m., ICIT investigators arrived in Baddeck.  Superintendent Burns assigned 
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roles and the Major Case Management (MCM) structure for the investigation was 
formed.  ICIT investigators began to take over control of the investigation from 
MCU members.  Tasks were assigned to investigators as per the MCM protocol. 
 
RCMP members used the RCMP electronic reporting process while HRP 
members used their own, with the primary file being the HRP file.  The two 
electronic systems, while identical, are not compatible.  Any material which came 
to the ICIT (audio statements, written statements, reports, etc.) was provided to 
each of the agencies for input into their respective reporting processes.  The 
RCMP provided forensic identification services and maintained the physical 
exhibits seized from the scene of the shooting. 
 
Superintendent Burns said he did not at any time during the investigation see 
anything that would have caused him to be concerned about the RCMP 
displaying bias or attempting to influence the investigation.  He said that none of 
his HRP members ever raised any concerns with him in that regard. Similarly, he 
said that he received no interference or undue questioning from HRP 
management.  On several occasions prior to delivery of the report, RCMP 
management was briefed and he was asked when the final report was expected, 
but he did not perceive any attempt to influence or interfere with the investigation 
by “H” Division. 
 
He said that part of the reason he was pleased to have RCMP members of the 
ICIT taking statements from other RCMP members was that his goal was to 
obtain as much information as possible.  He was concerned that RCMP 
members and potentially members of the Wagmatcook community might feel 
less comfortable if police officers from Halifax took the statements.  He was 
further concerned that Halifax officers would be perceived as being from the “big 
city” and cause interviewees not to be forthcoming with their information. 
 
The investigation was virtually completed in March 2009.  Superintendent Burns 
said that from then until the final report was completed he was awaiting various 
testing results and a final reply from the Public Prosecution Service with respect 
to the legal issues involved. That reply arrived on October 29, 2009.  He said that 
in the meantime, he had given the RCMP the documentation in the possession of 
the ICIT, and that all of the file data was available to the RCMP in the RCMP 
electronic data base.  However, he did not share advance drafts of the ICIT 
investigative report with the RCMP. 
 
Notably, Superintendent Burns said that no post-incident meeting was held to 
identify lessons learned or deficiencies.  These meetings can be extremely 
beneficial in identifying lessons learned for the handling of future similar events.  
The RCMP should have followed up and scheduled such a meeting. It was to the 
RCMP’s benefit to do so. 
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In my opinion, the ultimate outcome of the ICIT Report was not determined prior 
to the conclusion of the investigation, nor did I detect any bias or preference in 
the way the ICIT investigators carried out their functions.  The investigation was 
conducted thoroughly and professionally.  A copy of the ICIT Report is appended 
at Appendix J. 
 
Furthermore, there is no evidence to suggest that any member of the RCMP had 
improper input into the decisions regarding criminal charges against 
Constable Frenette.  Throughout the investigation carried out by this 
Commission, those interviewed adamantly denied having any input or discussion 
pertaining to the criminal charges.  The sole exception to this statement, of 
course, was Superintendent Burns, who as the head of the ICIT had ongoing 
discussions with the Crown.  Superintendent Burns, upon advice from the Nova 
Scotia Department of Justice, determined that criminal charges would not be 
initiated. 
 
FINDING: The RCMP members involved in the investigation of this incident 
acted appropriately, professionally, without bias and in accordance with 
section 37 of the RCMP Act.  
 
FINDING: In accordance with good police management practices, the 
RCMP should have scheduled a post-critical incident meeting to identify 
lessons learned. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That following any critical incident in which another 
agency investigates the actions of a member of the RCMP, a post-incident 
debriefing take place involving both the outside agency and the RCMP to 
identify lessons learned or deficiencies. 

E. Recommendations of the ICIT Report  
 
The ICIT Report set out five comprehensive findings and recommendations 
arising from the RCMP response to and handling of this incident, which have 
been reproduced here for ease of reference.  Immediately following each is my 
analysis thereof, as well as any associated findings and/or recommendations.  I 
would note that the ICIT Report appears to me to be focussed primarily on the 
actions of Constable Frenette.  It does not fully assess the conduct of either Staff 
Sergeant Thompson or Constable Bernard during the incident. 
 

1. It is the opinion of the Review Team that Cst. FRENETTE was not clear 
on his role and responsibilities which was a precipitating factor in the 
outcome of this incident.  Presently the RCMP Operational Manual only 
contains a, definition of a "barricaded person" under the Immediate Action 
Rapid Deployment (lARD) policy.  The RCMP Operational Manual does 
not contain clearly defined policy with respect to the detailed operational 
procedures required in a critical incident.  The Review Team recommends 
a managerial review of the RCMP policy and or guidelines related to 
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I agree that Constable Frenette was not clear on his role and responsibilities, but 
I do not agree that this lack of clarity is per se a precipitating factor.  To my mind, 
Constable Frenette’s apparent belief that he could peacefully resolve the 
situation alone, coupled with his unilateral action to enter the house were the 
primary precipitating factors.  Although I am of the view that the primary issues in 
this case were a result of the failure to exercise sound judgment rather than 
policy related, I agree that the RCMP should undertake a review of its policy with 
respect to barricaded persons.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the RCMP undertake a review of its policy with 
respect to barricaded persons. 
 

2. It is the opinion of the Review Team that initial responding officers and 
particularly Cst FRENETTE, were not given concise directions and/or a 
plan on the procedures to successfully resolve a critical incident.  The 
Review Team recommends that all District Commanders in "H" Division 
receive the Incident Commanders Course to ensure proper procedures 
are followed.  In the absence of the attendance of a District Commander 
to a critical incident, the Review Team recommends a guide/checklist be 
developed and installed in all the police vehicles' mobile workstations. 
This checklist will ensure all operational procedures for a critical incident 
are followed and completed. 

 
In my view, this recommendation is reasonable and can only serve to help 
prevent the recurrence of such tragedies. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That a guide/checklist be developed and installed in 
all the police vehicles’ mobile workstations to ensure that all operational 
procedures for a critical incident are followed and completed. 
 

3. It is the recommendation of the Review Team that a review of the training 
curriculum provided to members of the RCMP on the response process to 
critical incidents such as barricaded persons be conducted.  This training 
review should address Containment Principles for responding officers and 
include the general rules and guidelines for containment and the role and 
responsibilities of containment officers as well as instruction in the 
identification and management of Emotionally Disturbed Persons. 

 
As with the previous recommendation, I find this recommendation to be 
reasonable and integral to the prevention of incidents such as this one. 



 
RECOMMENDATION: That a review of the RCMP training curriculum 
regarding the response process to critical incidents such as barricaded 
persons be conducted, ensuring that issues of containment and the 
management of emotionally disturbed persons are adequately addressed. 

 
4. That Cst FRENETTE attend a refresher session on the RCMP Incident 

Management Intervention Model, including a session on risk assessment. 
It is further recommended that Cst FRENETTE attend a recertification of 
his Immediate Action Rapid Deployment users course. 

 
This recommendation does not adequately address the lack of judgment and 
improper conduct demonstrated by Constable Frenette.  Rather than a refresher 
on the IM/IM, I reiterate my earlier recommendations that Constable Frenette 
undergo full remedial training in the IM/IM as well as the CAPRA model, and that 
Staff Sergeant Thompson undergo training in operational supervision of junior 
members and in operational planning. 
 

5.  It is the recommendation of the Review Team that the "Use of Force" 
Subject matter experts” who are assigned to assist the Integrated Critical 
Investigative Team investigations receive advanced training in the bio-
mechanics of lethal force encounters.  This training should encompass 
the crucial dynamics that impact the understanding of "use of force" 
encounters.  I would recommend that this should be a requirement for 
members who are tasked to review these incidents from a "use of force" 
perspective and provide opinions on the involved officers actions. 

 
This recommendation is reasonable and will serve to enhance the analysis 
conducted by use of force experts. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That use of force experts receive training in the 
biomechanics of lethal force encounters. 
 
Following the release of the ICIT Report and the Independent Officer Review, 
“H” Division assessed the findings and recommendations of each and took 
proactive steps to address the issues identified.  A synopsis of the issues 
identified and the actions taken may be found at Appendix K.  

F. RCMP disciplinary issues 

At the outset, I would emphasize that the Commission’s mandate with respect to 
discipline is limited to assessing the reasonableness of the conduct of the 
members.  The Commission does not impose disciplinary sanctions on any 
member or assess the reasonableness of disciplinary sanctions levied, as this is 
at its core an employer/employee matter.  
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That having been said, considering the profound public concerns raised in the 
context of this matter about the application of the RCMP disciplinary process, the 
actions/decisions taken by members of the RCMP in the discharge of their duties 
in assessing conduct in light of the RCMP’s Code of Conduct following the 
shooting of Mr. Simon are worthy of examination in this report.  

The disciplinary process set out in Part IV of the RCMP Act applies to regular 
(those with peace officer status) and civilian members of the RCMP.  The RCMP 
disciplinary process and the time restrictions on its initiation have been described 
by the RCMP External Review Committee20 on its Web site,21 and may be found 
at Appendix L.  Of note is the one-year limitation period for initiating disciplinary 
proceedings.  In this instance, because the identities of the members involved as 
well as the facts and circumstances of the incident were known at the time, any 
disciplinary proceedings relating to the shooting of Mr. Simon would have had to 
be initiated prior to December 2, 2009.  

While the RCMP Act requires the officer or member in command to investigate or 
cause an investigation to be undertaken upon the belief that a violation of the 
RCMP’s Code of Conduct has occurred, as will be discussed below it was open 
to a number of individual members to report their investigational findings to the 
appropriate line officer to ensure that the conduct of the members was properly 
considered in light of the Code of Conduct.  

The Integrated Critical Incident Team (ICIT) 
 
The MOA governing the ICIT requires the Officer in Charge of the ICIT 
investigation to refer to the Commanding Officer of “H” Division “any matters 
relating to the RCMP Act […] discipline or related issues arising from the facts of 
the investigation […].  No such referral was made. 
 
The Officer in Charge of the ICIT, Superintendent Burns, stated that he had 
concerns about the performance of individuals involved in the shooting, but that 
he was not looking at the investigation through the lens of discipline.  He felt that 
given the access the RCMP had to the file, if there were disciplinary concerns a 
complaint would be made and the disciplinary matter would have been stayed 
until the criminal investigation was completed.  Superintendent Burns said he did 
not want to alert the RCMP to the issues he did identify in the report, such as 
training, scene management, and effective command and control, too early 
because he did not want to be seen to be prematurely reaching a conclusion on 
anything before the entire investigation was completed, including receipt of 
advice from the Crown with respect to criminal charges.   
 

                                               
20 The RCMP External Review Committee (ERC) is an independent and arm’s length labour 
relations tribunal established by Part II of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Act. 
21 ERC Web site – http://www.erc-cee.gc.ca/reports-rapports/other-autres/president-eng.aspx 
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Superintendent Burns assumed that the Commanding Officer of “H” Division 
would be briefed internally on the contents of the file as it was being compiled, for 
informational purposes. It does not appear that “H” Division management asked 
Superintendent Burns whether the ICIT investigation disclosed any potential 
disciplinary breaches even though a number of meetings and briefings took place 
prior to the release of the ICIT report on December 9, 2009, and within the one-
year time limit. 
 
“H” Division Criminal Operations (CROPS) 
 
Superintendent Burns also assumed that someone in the “H” Division CROPS 
Unit would be reviewing the file for the RCMP.  The Commission was informed 
that the Use of Force Report was provided to CROPS by the end of June 2009.  
When interviewed by the Commission, members of the CROPS Unit reported to 
remain aware of file investigative details, but rather monitored in general terms.  
The shooting was being investigated as a Baddeck Detachment file. Regardless, 
Chief Superintendent Blair McKnight, the “H” Division Criminal Operations 
Officer, told the Commission that disciplinary offences had been considered 
throughout the one-year period but said that no Code of Conduct investigation 
was launched because the grounds were not considered to be sufficient to 
initiate such an investigation. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Commission was made aware that a Code of 
Conduct investigation was recommended by the CROPS Unit early in 2009, 
within weeks of the shooting.  The recommendation to begin a Code of Conduct 
investigation to run parallel to the criminal investigation was made to the Support 
Services and CROPS officers.  However, no documentation was sent to either 
Staff Sergeant Thompson as the Detachment Commander or to the District 
Policing Officer, at the time Superintendent Ted Upshaw (now retired), 
recommending that one or both of them consider a Code of Conduct 
investigation. 
 
The District Policing Officer 
 
Pursuant to the RCMP Act, the member who has the responsibility to consider 
initiating a Code of Conduct investigation in relation to his or her subordinate is 
the Detachment Commander.22  In this case, given that Staff Sergeant 
Thompson likely would have been in a conflict of interest given his role in the 
Simon shooting, the decision to initiate a Code of Conduct investigation would 
proceed through the chain of command and therefore come within the purview of 
the District Policing Officer, Superintendent Upshaw. 
 
Superintendent Upshaw was contacted the night of the shooting and knew the 
identities of the members involved.  He knew Mr. Simon had been shot by 
Constable Frenette, but he may not have been aware of the specifics of the 
                                               
22 Royal Canadian Mounted Police Act, s. 40(1) 
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potential contravention(s) of the RCMP’s Code of Conduct.  Within a few days, 
however, he knew (at least generally) of the nature of the entry to the Simon 
house. 
 
Superintendent Upshaw told the Commission that he did not feel he had enough 
information to initiate a Code of Conduct investigation against Constable Frenette 
and therefore he did not do so.  Superintendent Upshaw told the Commission 
that he did not receive many formal briefings and did not recall having a 
conversation with anyone about launching a Code of Conduct investigation.  
Equally, he does not recall being asked about it by senior management of 
“H” Division, and did not ask “H” Division for any analysis of the Code of Conduct 
or performance issues to assist him in his decision making process.  He said that 
much of the discussion with respect to the investigation was between “H” Division 
and ICIT and did not involve him. 
 
Despite the foregoing, Superintendent Upshaw said the Code of Conduct was 
not a priority in that his focus was on the criminal aspects of the investigation.  
He also noted that in his mind he believed that the issues in this matter related 
more to performance than conduct, although he never considered proceedings 
under Part V of the RCMP Act (performance) against any of the members 
involved. 
 
I note that in a briefing note to the Commissioner dated March 18, 2010 prepared 
by Staff Sergeant Hearn and approved by both Chief Superintendent McKnight 
and then Assistant Commissioner Steve Graham, at the time the Commanding 
Officer (CO) of “H” Division, the comment was made that Superintendent 
Upshaw informed the CO early in 2009 that “[…] as a result of his assessment of 
this incident and in consultation with the members it was determined there were 
insufficient grounds to initiate a Code of Conduct investigation at that time.”  
Superintendent Upshaw has no recollection or notes of any such conversation, 
nor has the Commission been provided with the source of this comment.  In any 
event, this briefing note was prepared outside of the limitation period to initiate 
disciplinary measures.  
 
The briefing note also noted that on November 11, 2009, Staff Sergeant Steve 
Scott (then in charge of Internal Services) met with Staff Sergeant Thompson.  It 
was determined at that time that there were insufficient grounds to initiate a Code 
of Conduct investigation into the Simon shooting. 
 
Superintendent Upshaw retired in August 2009.  His replacement, 
Superintendent Kieran MacQuarrie, reviewed the Simon matter.  
Superintendent MacQuarrie ordered that an internal investigation should be 
commenced against all three members on January 29, 2010.  After discussing 
the matter with the RCMP’s Professional Standards Unit at the national 
headquarters, however, he came to the conclusion that because senior 
management of “H” Division had known the identities of the members involved 
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and the nature of the actions they took within days of the shooting, he was time-
barred from proceeding with disciplinary measures.  As a result, he determined 
that the appropriate course of action was to not proceed with the Code of 
Conduct investigation and cancelled the investigation on February 12, 2010.  
Consequently, none of the RCMP members involved was the subject of a Code 
of Conduct investigation into their actions on the night of the shooting. 
 
“H” Division Internal Services 
 
The documentation reviewed by the Commission demonstrates that Internal 
Services of “H” Division was not directly involved in the matter until close to or 
after the release of the ICIT report.  The matter was not referred to “H” Division 
Internal Services until Superintendent MacQuarrie raised the question of a Code 
of Conduct investigation.  A memo analyzing the available information was 
provided by Staff Sergeant Scott, in charge of Internal Services, to the CROPS 
officer on January 20, 2010.  In it, he recommended that an internal investigation 
be undertaken with respect to the actions of Staff Sergeant Thompson, 
Constable Bernard and Constable Frenette.  Staff Sergeant Scott had 
recommended the converse on December 16, 2009, but altered his opinion after 
reading the Use of Force Report.  Staff Sergeant Scott believed that although a 
year had elapsed since the shooting, the nature of the members’ conduct was 
unknown until the ICIT report was completed. 
 
Independent Officer Review 
 
In accordance with the RCMP’s member-involved shooting policy and for MCM 
quality control purposes, Superintendent A. Hale, the CROPS officer for the 
neighbouring “L” Division (Prince Edward Island), was asked to conduct an 
Independent Officer Review of the Simon shooting in March 2009.  A preparatory 
meeting, including Superintendent Hale, was held on April 1, 2009, at which time 
Superintendent Burns offered to provide background information. Superintendent 
Burns did provide some material to Superintendent Hale in July 2009, but he 
opted to postpone his review pending completion of the ICIT report to ensure that 
he had all of the relevant materials.  Subsequently, the Independent Officer 
Review was halted until Superintendent Hale was tasked with it again on 
December 17, 2009.  Superintendent Hale completed his review and the report 
was provided to the Commanding Officer of “H” Division on February 26, 2010. 
 
Superintendent Hale opted to postpone his review until the completion of the ICIT 
report.  Superintendent Hale’s review contains a number of criticisms of the 
manner in which members conducted themselves on the night of the shooting.  
However, because Superintendent Hale did not commence his review until after 
the one-year limitation period for the initiation of disciplinary proceedings had 
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expired, none of this information made its way to “H” Division prior to the 
expiration of that limitation period.
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Analysis 
 
As previously noted, it is not within the Commission’s remit to impose discipline 
on members of the RCMP.  That is an internal RCMP matter.  Moreover, the 
issue that I must consider is not whether the correct decision was made in not 
initiating Code of Conduct proceedings.  Rather, I must determine whether the 
question was adequately considered and decided on, and accordingly, whether 
the decision not to initiate Code of Conduct proceedings was reasonable in the 
circumstances. It is at its core, therefore, a matter of assessing member conduct.  
 
The main difficulty in assessing the reasonableness of the decision not to initiate 
disciplinary proceedings is that the Commission was not provided with any 
analysis of the events from the point of view of launching such proceedings and, 
therefore, no evidence that the matter was properly considered within the 
one-year limitation period. 
 
The Senior Deputy Commissioner of the RCMP recently issued a new directive 
(attached as Appendix N) to all commanding officers regarding the requirement 
to inform headquarters of all serious incidents from a potential Part IV 
perspective.  While this directive is a positive development in that it clearly 
addresses the requirement of divisions to notify the Professional Integrity Officer 
of all Code of Conduct investigations, and to articulate the decision on whether to 
proceed or not with a Code of Conduct investigation, it does not appear to 
address the initial process issues with Part IV decision making at the divisional 
level.  
 
As a result, I recommend that in every serious or high profile incident involving a 
member of the RCMP, the division’s Internal Services (or equivalent unit) should 
also be advised.  Internal Services should then set a reasonable diary date, at 
which time Internal Services would contact the operational commander involved 
to confirm whether or not grounds exist to undertake a Code of Conduct 
investigation.  While the decision to undertake a Code of Conduct investigation 
rests with the officer or member in command of the subject member, the 
consultative process should be documented and an analysis prepared to 
demonstrate that the question had been considered and to ensure that the 
rationale for the decision to proceed or not to proceed is preserved.  This would 
assist in ensuring transparency and accountability of the process as line officers 
discharge their responsibilities. 
 

                                               
23 More detailed information with respect to the information available prior to the expiry of the 
one-year limitation period may be found in Appendix M. 
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Finally, although I recognize that informal conversations do take place, when 
information imparted during such a discussion is to be used and relied upon in a 
document such as a briefing note to the Commissioner, it is important that steps 
be taken to document and formalize the information prior to reporting it.24  It is 
the lack of proper documentation in this case which has made it difficult for the 
Commission to assess the conduct of RCMP managers discharging their duties 
in this regard.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the RCMP consider adopting into RCMP policy a 
formalized process involving division Internal Services to ensure timely 
notifications and to ensure the proper documentation of decisions during 
the consultative process of Part IV in order to preserve the decision-
making rationale involved. 

G. Training 
 
It is evident that the primary failures on the night of the shooting of Mr. Simon 
were not directly related to deficiencies in training.  Rather, I see the primary 
RCMP issues with respect to the death of Mr. Simon to be a failure to apply 
sound judgment by a junior member and the failure to provide sufficient direction, 
planning and supervision by the staff sergeant in charge.  Nonetheless, in my 
view, a discussion of the state of RCMP training as it existed on the night in 
question, as well as steps taken by the RCMP subsequent to the shooting of 
Mr. Simon, is useful. 
 
The Commission was informed that “H” Division receives a regular report on 
members who are delinquent in training with respect to a variety of necessary 
courses (such as firearms, baton and first aid).  In the event of a delinquency, the 
CROPS Unit advises the relevant detachment commander to remind them to 
have members under their control update their training as necessary.  Training 
for the involved members, which included firearms training and training based on 
the IM/IM and the CAPRA problem-solving method, was up to date at the time of 
the shooting. 
 
As noted above, the ICIT report called for further training for all of the involved 
members.25  Subsequent to the shooting, Staff Sergeant Thompson passed the 
Incident Commander’s course which, by all accounts, is a challenging course.  
Constable Bernard has been recommended for the Police Supervisor’s course 
and is scheduled to take it in February 2011.  Constable Frenette remains off 
duty and therefore has not taken any further training. 

                                               
24 It would appear that the directive issued by the Senior Deputy Commissioner described above 
is designed to accomplish this. 
25 A synopsis of the relevant recommendations by the ICIT as well as Superintendent Hale may 
be found at Appendix K. 
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Subsequent to the ICIT Report and the Independent Officer Review, “H” Division 
took a number of steps to enhance its training regimen.  For instance, 
“H” Division training for front-line members on responding to critical incidents has 
been developed.  It is anticipated that increased training for RCMP members in 
responding to complaints of barricaded persons will have the effect of providing 
better oversight and supervision for responding members, which in turn will 
provide better and improved service to the public. 
 
 
FINDING: No training deficiencies contributing to this incident were 
identified. 

H. Communications plans 
 

As per Article 8 of the MOA, the ICIT Report was delivered to the commanding 
officer (CO) of “H” Division.  It is the responsibility of the CO to take whatever 
actions he or she deems appropriate in releasing the results of such an 
investigation. 
 
Criticism was levelled at “H” Division because prior to the release of the (vetted) 
report to the family, the Band and the public, the RCMP media relations unit had 
been in touch with the HRP to prepare media and communications responses for 
division officers.  Although the report did not find that criminal charges were 
warranted against the involved member or other members present, it did contain 
comments and recommendations regarding areas in which the RCMP could 
improve service. 
 
It is common practice that RCMP communications professionals would be 
involved to assist with coordinating the release of the report and providing 
suggested responses to potential questions posed to “H” Division members.  The 
foregoing notwithstanding, there did exist issues with the content of the 
communications responses, particularly with respect to the fact that disciplinary 
action was not commenced prior to the one-year limitation period.  Media 
responses that said that the ICIT had cleared the RCMP of any wrongdoing were 
a mischaracterization of the report.   
 
This mischaracterization is captured in a media response prepared for the 
briefing with the family and the Band, which reads: 
 

Q: If we don't trust you why would we trust the results of the 
investigation? 
 
A: The investigation was conducted by an outside, independent agency. 
 
Q: So if he wasn't murdered than [sic] what happened? Let's hear your 
story… 
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A: Mr. Simon died as a result of a confrontation with police. Halifax 
Regional Police conducted an independent investigation that determined 
the officer acted appropriately in his duties. 

 
The foregoing minimizes the fact that RCMP members played an integral part in 
the ICIT investigation and wrongly states that the HRP found that 
Constable Frenette acted appropriately in his duties, as opposed to stating that 
Constable Frenette was not charged criminally.  These are two separate and 
distinct concepts. 
 
In addition, I note issues with respect to the content of media responses 
prepared for senior RCMP officers for the purposes of their briefing the Band and 
family members.  For example, the media response stating that 
Constable Frenette entered the house says it was to peaceably resolve the 
situation.  Not mentioned is the fact that the decision to enter the house was 
fraught with problems, nor does the response comment on the less than proper 
exercise of judgment demonstrated by Constable Frenette.  While responses 
prepared for print or television media may be truncated, I would expect that data 
accumulated in preparation for a frank meeting with those closest to the event 
would be more candid. 
 
Additionally, Superintendent Burns felt that the invocation of the federal Privacy 
Act by the RCMP was inappropriate.  He said that everyone in Wagmatcook 
knew it was Constable Frenette who had shot Mr. Simon, yet when the meeting 
between the RCMP and the Band took place to present the report findings, 
neither Constable Frenette nor any other responding member’s name was used.  
He said that because everyone knew it was Constable Frenette who shot Mr. 
Simon and knew the names of the other responding members involved, this lack 
of transparency and the overriding concern for privacy by the RCMP only served 
to inflame the situation and make relations between the RCMP and the Band 
more tense. 
 
Canadians rightly have an expectation that the RCMP should be transparent and 
candid in the manner in which it communicates with the public. Further, the 
overall context should be taken into account before invoking mechanisms such 
as privacy laws to prohibit, as in this instance, the disclosure of names already 
well-known to a community. In such cases, arguably the public interest is better 
served by acknowledging that which is already known. 
 
FINDING: The contents of the media responses prepared with respect to 
this incident were not sufficiently fulsome and could have misled the public 
into believing that the investigation was carried out solely by the HRP. 
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RECOMMENDATION: That press releases be reviewed by the operational 
commander before being released to ensure accuracy and to avoid any 
possible mischaracterization. 
 
In light of the totality of the handling of this incident by the RCMP, from the initial 
response through to the internal disciplinary matters through to the media 
responses, I feel that it is incumbent on the RCMP to take positive steps to heal 
the wounds caused by this incident and to help restore the Band’s confidence 
and trust in the RCMP.  Consequently, it would be prudent for the RCMP to offer 
an apology to the Simon family and the members of the Band for the manner in 
which this tragic manner was handled.  An apology would also be consistent with 
the RCMP’s dedication to enhancing positive relations with the community it 
serves.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the RCMP offer an apology to the Simon family 
and the Wagmatcook Band in respect of this incident. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
Members of the RCMP undertake an enormous responsibility in responding to 
incidents involving individuals threatening suicide.  They often play a pivotal role 
in safely resolving situations and ensuring that individuals obtain the medical or 
psychiatric help they require.  While undoubtedly certain crisis situations require 
prompt and efficient police interventions, many require patience, understanding 
and restraint prior to a safe resolution.  The events surrounding the response to 
the 9-1-1 call on December 2, 2008 in Wagmatcook was one such situation. 
 
In addition, the manner in which serious incidents are investigated, 
communications are addressed, and RCMP managers discharge their duties 
vis-à-vis the application of the Code of Conduct also must meet certain standards 
to ensure public confidence and transparency.  The Commission’s investigation 
of this incident highlights that beyond those members who actually responded to 
the 9-1-1 call, many other RCMP members contributed to the situation which 
aroused such public concern.  In particular, and as I have noted in this report, the 
actions or lack thereof of the members responsible for making decisions relating 
to discipline, and also of those responsible for conveying information to family 
members and the public, negatively impacted public perceptions and in turn 
public confidence in the RCMP.  No matter how benign the initial intention, it is 
the visible effect of a given course of conduct that has the greatest public impact, 
and consequently, the greatest impact on the public's confidence in the police.  
 
While this report has made a number of difficult findings, I hope that the 
recommendations contained herein will assist the RCMP in preventing the 
reoccurrence of events such as the shooting of Mr. Simon which have been 
tragic for all parties involved.  Further, as public confidence is the cornerstone of 
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Chair-initiated Public Complaint and Public Interest Investigation 

File No.: 2010-0861 

Subject: Shooting Death of Mr. John Andrew Simon, Wagmatcook, Victoria 
County, Nova Scotia, December 2, 2008 

March 16, 2010  

As Chair of the Commission for Public Complaints Against the RCMP, I am 
initiating a complaint into the conduct of those unidentified RCMP members 
involved in the response to and subsequent shooting death of Mr. John Simon in 
Wagmatcook, Nova Scotia on or about December 2, 2008.  
 
The facts as presently known indicate that on or about December 2, 2008, RCMP 
members attended Mr. Simon’s residence in response to an emergency call.  At 
some point, a member of the RCMP entered Mr. Simon’s residence and fatally 
shot him.  I am initiating this complaint with the full appreciation that the RCMP 
engaged the Halifax Regional Police to undertake an independent investigation 
into this matter and that the report was completed in December 2009. 
 
Given the ongoing expressions of public concern as they relate to the degree and 
type of force used by police officers when dealing with individuals and the 
manner in which members of the RCMP responded to this situation, I am 
satisfied that there are reasonable grounds to investigate the circumstances 
surrounding the shooting death of Mr. Simon.  Accordingly, pursuant to 
subsection 45.37(1) of the RCMP Act, I am today initiating a complaint into the 
conduct of all RCMP members or other persons appointed or employed under 
the authority of the RCMP Act involved in this incident, as well as into matters of 
general practice applicable to situations involving persons believed to be suicidal 
or otherwise of a high-risk nature, specifically:  
 

1. whether the RCMP members or other persons appointed or employed 
under the authority of the RCMP Act involved in the events of December 
2, 2008, from the moment of the initial call to the RCMP for assistance, 
through to the subsequent death of John Andrew Simon, complied with all 
appropriate training, policies, procedures, guidelines and statutory 
requirements relating to responding to persons believed to be suicidal, 
barricaded within a premises, or otherwise potentially of a high-risk nature;  

 
2. whether the RCMP national, divisional and detachment-level policies, 

procedures and guidelines relating to the manner in which the RCMP 
responds to persons believed to be suicidal, barricaded within a premises, 
or otherwise potentially of a high-risk nature, are adequate; and 

 

 



 

 

3. whether the RCMP members involved in the investigation of this incident 
conducted an investigation that was adequate, and free of actual or 
perceived conflict of interest, whether they responded appropriately and 
proportionately to the gravity of the incident, whether they responded in a 
timely fashion and whether their conduct adhered to the standards set out 
in section 37 of the RCMP Act. 

 
Furthermore, I am instituting a public interest investigation into this complaint, 
pursuant to subsection 45.43(1) of the RCMP Act. 
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The findings and recommendations contained in this report are provided below: 

 
FINDING: Constable Bernard placed himself at unnecessary risk by failing 
to wait for the backup that had been called out, prior to attending the 
Simon residence. 
 
FINDING: Staff Sergeant Thompson failed to ensure that an adequate 
operational plan had been put in place and understood by the responding 
members prior to their deployment. 
 
FINDING: Staff Sergeant Thompson permitted RCMP members to place 
Mr. Simon and themselves in unnecessary jeopardy by allowing them to 
position themselves and remain too close to the Simon residence. 
 
FINDING: Staff Sergeant Thompson failed to order Constable Frenette to 
pull back from the residence when he knew or ought to have known that 
Constable Frenette was contemplating an entry to the house to apprehend 
Mr. Simon. 
 
FINDING: Constable Frenette acted in an inappropriate manner by deciding 
to enter the Simon house with no clear instructions, notice to other 
members, backup, means of escape or operational plan.   
 
FINDING: Constable Frenette had sufficient grounds to believe his life was 
in jeopardy and that the decision to resort to the use of lethal force by 
discharging his service pistol at Mr. Simon was appropriate in the 
circumstances. 
 
FINDING: There is no evidence of bias or subjectivity in the conduct of the 
RCMP MCU investigation. 
 
FINDING: It was reasonable in the circumstances for the RCMP to restrict 
access to Mr. Simon’s body. 
 
FINDING: The RCMP members involved in the investigation of this incident 
acted appropriately, professionally, without bias and in accordance with 
section 37 of the RCMP Act.  
 
FINDING: In accordance with good police management practices, the 
RCMP should have scheduled a post-critical incident meeting to identify 
lessons learned. 
 

 



 

FINDING: No training deficiencies contributing to this incident were 
identified. 
 
FINDING: The contents of the media responses prepared with respect to 
this incident were not sufficiently fulsome and could have misled the public 
into believing that the investigation was carried out solely by the HRP. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That following any critical incident in which another 
agency investigates the actions of a member of the RCMP, a post-incident 
debriefing take place involving both the outside agency and the RCMP to 
identify lessons learned or deficiencies. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the RCMP undertake a review of its policy with 
respect to barricaded persons. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That a guide/checklist be developed and installed in 
all the police vehicles' mobile workstations to ensure that all operational 
procedures for a critical incident are followed and completed. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That a review of the RCMP training curriculum 
regarding the response process to critical incidents such as barricaded 
persons be conducted, ensuring that issues of containment and the 
management of emotionally disturbed persons are adequately addressed. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That use of force experts receive training in the 
biomechanics of lethal force encounters. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the RCMP consider adopting into RCMP policy a 
formalized process involving division Internal services to ensure timely 
notifications and to ensure the proper documentation of decisions during 
the consultative process of Part IV in order to preserve the decision-
making rationale involved. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That Constable Frenette undergo full remedial 
training in the IM/IM as well as the CAPRA model.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: That Staff Sergeant Thompson be provided training 
in operational supervision of junior members and in critical incident 
planning and management. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: The RCMP may wish to consider entering into a 
bilateral agreement with non-RCMP ERTs to ensure adequate and timely 
coverage in the event of an incident requiring the ERT. 
 

 



 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: That press releases be reviewed by the operational 
commander before being released to ensure accuracy and to avoid any 
possible mischaracterization. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That the RCMP offer an apology to the Simon family 
and the Wagmatcook Band in respect of this incident. 
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Key Participants and their Roles 

 
The following provides an overview of the key participants involved in the incident 
and their roles with respect to the incident.  Numerous other police responders 
were also involved, however only those whose names have been included in the 
report are set out here.  Unless indicated otherwise, persons named were in situ 
at the time of the incident and continue to occupy those positions. 
 
Initial Responders 
 
Bernard, Cst. Jason –  Member of the Baddeck RCMP Detachment.  Dispatched 

to Simon residence as a result of a 9-1-1 call of an 
intoxicated male with firearms who was threatening 
suicide.  Cst. Bernard has since been transferred from 
Baddeck. 

 
Frenette, Cst. Jeremy –  Member of the Baddeck RCMP Detachment who was 

off duty but called out to support Cst. Bernard.  Shot 
Mr. Simon.  Cst. Frenette has since been transferred 
from Baddeck. 

 
Thompson, S/Sgt. Archie – Commander of the Baddeck RCMP Detachment.  In 

charge of the incident.  S/Sgt. Thompson has since been 
transferred from Baddeck. 

 
 
Supporting RCMP Members and Post-Shooting Investigators 
 
Bezaire, Cst. Catherine –  Assigned to North East Nova Major Case Unit and 

one of a number of members from MCU and 
neighbouring detachments who assisted in the incident 
and the subsequent investigation of the shooting.  
Cst. Bezaire was also involved with the post mortem 
viewing of Mr. Simon’s body. 

 
Burns, Supt. Michael –  Halifax Regional Police member.  In charge of ICIT 

investigation. 
 
Firth, Cpl. Fraser –  RCMP member of North East Nova Major Crime Unit. 

Along with a number of other RCMP members, assisted 
the ICIT with the homicide investigation. 

 
Graham, A/ Commr. – Commanding Officer of “H” Division. 
Steve 
  

 



 

 
Hale, Supt. Al –  Criminal Operations Officer in “L” Division (Prince 

Edward Island).  Conducted Independent Officer Review 
of the Simon shooting at the request of the CO, 
“H” Division. 

 
MacDonald, Sgt. Bruce –  “H” Division Emergency Response Team 

commander. 
 
MacPherson, Cpl. Mark – Member of RCMP Inverness Detachment who 

came to Wagmatcook to support the responding 
members with the barricaded person situation.  Took the 
lead in providing first aid to Mr. Simon and controlled the 
scene after the shooting, pending arrival of the Major 
Crime Unit and ICIT. 

 
MacQuarrie, Supt. Kieran –  District Policing Officer for North East Nova 

(including the areas of Cape Breton policed by the 
RCMP).  Took over the position in August 2009.  Initiated 
then withdrew Code of Conduct investigation for 
responding members because of time limitation. 

 
McKnight, C/Supt. Blair –  Criminal Operations Officer for “H” Division. 
 
Roper, Supt. David –  Support Services Officer for “H” Division (at that time). 
 
Scott, S/Sgt. Stephen –  RCMP member in charge of “H” Division Internal 

Services.  Involved in deliberations of whether or not a 
Code of Conduct investigation should be initiated. 

 
Taker, Sgt. Ken –  RCMP leader of North East Nova Major Crime Unit.  

Following the shooting, Sgt. Taker took control of the 
investigation pending arrival of the ICIT and worked with 
the ICIT as part of the command structure during the 
ICIT investigation. 

 
Upshaw, Supt. Ted –  District Policing Officer for North East Nova at the time of 

the incident.  Retired in August 2009. 
 
Non-Police Involvement 
 
The following are the key non-police persons involved in the incident: 
 
GooGoo, Elizabeth –  Wagmatcook medical first responder who arrived shortly 

after Mr. Simon was shot. 
 

 



 

 

Isadore, Charlene –  Ms. MacKay’s daughter and de facto daughter of 
Mr. Simon.  Attempted to remove rifle from Mr. Simon 
prior to the 9-1-1 call. 

 
Isadore, Mary Katerie –  Made call to 9-1-1 to report that Mr. Simon was 

intoxicated, had firearms and was threatening suicide.  
Mr. Simon’s aunt and next-door neighbour. 

 
Isadore, Walter –  Mr. Simon’s next-door neighbour.  Married to Katerie 

Isadore. 
 
MacKay, Patricia –  Mr. Simon’s common-law wife of 24 years.  Removed a 

shotgun from the residence prior to the 9-1-1 call. 
 
Simon, John A. – Deceased as a result of gunshot wounds. 
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 Simon Shooting Chronology of Events on December 2, 2008 
and Timeline 

 
20:45 Call to 9-1-1 from Mary Katerie Isadore  

20:49 Call dispatched by 9-1-1 to Cst. Bernard  

20:55 Bernard asks OCC to call Cst. Frenette 

20:56 Bernard advises OCC he has contacted complainant and is 
going to call Mr. Simon (by phone).  Says complainant told 
him Simon was drinking and now he says he wasn't serious 
about suicide.  Says Simon is known to be uncooperative 
with police. 

20:56 Phone call from OCC to Frenette.  Frenette is told there is a 
fight over a gun at Simon's residence.  No mention of 
alcohol.  OCC tells Cst. Frenette that Cst. Bernard is on the 
phone with Simon. 

21:09 OCC asks Bernard if he is en route to the Simon residence.  
He confirms that he is.   

Bernard advises Dispatch he is on scene and needs more 
backup.  Says he looked through Simon's window and saw a 
firearm on the bed.  Says Simon is intoxicated and talking 
on the phone.  Doesn't want to put his life in danger and 
doesn't know if the gun is loaded.  Says he is going to 
contact his supervisor (S/Sgt. Thompson). 

21:14 

Frenette asks who they're dealing with and asks for the 
address.  Bernard says it is John Simon, 22 Katie Lane. 

21:17 Cst. Frenette comes on the air and says he is 5–10 minutes 
away from scene.  He says his understanding is that the 
subject is John Bernard.  Cst. Bernard corrected him and 
said it is John Simon. Agree to meet at the Red Barn. 

21:24 Cpl. MacPherson calls to say he is heading down from 
Inverness in case members need help.  Frenette says 
gentleman is quite large and has a firearm.   

21:34 Cst. Bernard with S/Sgt. Thompson says they will block one 
side (of Katie Lane) and asks Cst. Frenette to block vehicle 
traffic on the other side.      

21:38 Thompson advises Frenette they (presumably he and 
Bernard) are trying to contact the residents of the 
surrounding houses. 

21:45 OCC asks Frenette if he is at scene.  He confirms. 

 



 

21:45 Frenette advises Thompson and Bernard that he is at the 
back of Walter's house (Isadore). 

21:47 Thompson asks Frenette to limit conversations on the 
channel because Bernard is on the line (speaking to Simon) 

21:55 S/Sgt. Thompson asks Cst. Frenette where he is.  Says he 
is just behind Mr. Simon's vehicle and he has both exits 
covered. 

21:56 Cst. Frenette says he can hear Mr. Simon talking inside and 
asks if he is talking to "us" (RCMP).  S/Sgt. Thompson 
replies “Negative.” 

21:58 Cst. Frenette asks Cst. Bernard if Simon is alone.  
Cst. Bernard says he is.  Cst. Frenette says he can hear 
Mr. Simon but can't understand what he is saying. 

21:59 Cpl. MacPherson says both Inverness cars are at scene.  
S/Sgt. Thompson tells them to park near the gas station. 

22:00 S/Sgt. Thompson asks OCC to call his cell. 

22:00 OCC calls S/Sgt. Thompson on cell.  He asks dispatcher to 
call ERT and a negotiator.  Dispatcher says she will call and 
ask ERT to call S/Sgt. Thompson on his cell. 

22:02 OCC calls Sgt. MacDonald, ERT, and asks him to call 
S/Sgt. Thompson on his cell. 

22:04 S/Sgt. Thompson advises Cst. Frenette he is going to send 
Cst. Bernard down to the house so Cst. Frenette is not 
alone. 

22:05 Cst. Frenette says he is on the east side (of the Simon 
house). 

22:12 S/Sgt. Thompson asks if Cst. Bernard is with Cst. Frenette.  
Cst. Frenette says “10–4” and says he is near the window 
and his volume is way down.  S/Sgt. Thompson advises him 
to “Sit tight.  ERT is on their way.”  Cst. Frenette appears to 
acknowledge, but response is inaudible. 

22:24:40 
Cst. Frenette whispers into the radio “He's sitting on the 
toilet with no weapons.  Want me to go in?” 

22:24:53 S/Sgt. Thompson asks Cst. Frenette what he’s seeing.  
Cst. Frenette replies that Mr. Simon is “on the toilet smoking 
a cigarette.  No weapons in sight.  He has an open window 
to go in.  Now’s the time.” 

22:25:29 S/Sgt. Thompson asks “How big is this guy?” 

 



 

22:25:47 Response is inaudible 
22:26 Cst. Frenette says something inaudible and says “I'm getting 

pretty close.”   
22:27:52 Shouting (shots had just been fired).  

22:28:08 A member (possibly Cst. Bernard) says shots fired and EHS 
is required.  Another voice (Cst. Frenette) says “Everybody 
in now, come on.  All the members.” 

22:29:04 Cpl. MacPherson advises OCC of shots fired and asks for 
EHS “stat.”  Dispatcher acknowledges. 

22:29:23 Dispatcher calls EHS to scene 
22:30 S/Sgt. Thompson advises OCC that EHS is required.  

Dispatcher advises she is on the line and they are being 
dispatched to the scene. 

22:32:38 OCC advises the members at scene that EHS is on the way 
and asks for an update on Mr. Simon’s condition. 
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RCMP Incident Management/Intervention Model (IM/IM)  
and CAPRA 

 
INCIDENT MANAGEMENT INTERVENTION MODEL (IMIM) 
 
The RCMP Incident Management Intervention Model known as IM/IM was 
developed as a training and visual aid to assist officers in their understanding of 
operational policy, assist peace officers in making street decisions, provide a 
standard for evaluation of incidents and explain the actions of peace officers to 
the triers of the facts.  The Model is sanctioned nationally by the RCMP and 
taught to cadets at the RCMP Training Academy and field members on a regular 
basis through their Operational Skills Maintenance (OSM) training.  The IM/IM is 
not in itself policy or law, and should not be considered as a justification model 
on its own. 
 
The role of the police in an intervention is to ensure that the public is safe and 
therefore police safety is essential to public safety.  If harm comes to the police 
officer(s), they will not be able to help others. 
 
In order to choose the appropriate level of intervention, the officer(s) will have to 
assess the level of risk to the public and themselves and the potential for 
preventing or reducing it.  This assessment should include the likelihood that 
someone or something might be hurt or damaged, and how or whether the police 
officer should intervene given the seriousness of harm or damage that might 
appear imminent.  These are often split-second difficult decisions made under 
stressful, rapidly evolving conditions.  With that said, a peace officer is expected 
to explain the intervention strategies he/she chooses to manage an incident.  The 
explanation must take into account the totality of the situation, including the 
officer’s perceptions, assessment of situational factors present and subject 
behaviour, all of which form the risk assessment.  Their intervention will be 
measured against what a reasonable, trained, prudent peace officer would do 
faced with a similar set of circumstances. 
 
As previously stated, the following underlying principles must be adhered to 
when undertaking any police intervention: 
 
1. The primary objective of any intervention is public safety. 
2. Police officer safety is essential to public safety. 
3. The intervention model must always be applied in the context of a careful 
assessment of risk. 
4. Risk assessment must take into account: the likelihood and extent of life loss, 
injury and damage to property. 
5. Risk assessment is a continuous process and risk management must evolve 
as situations change. 
6. The best strategy is to utilize the least amount of intervention to manage the 
risk. 

 



 

7. The best intervention causes the least amount of harm or damage. 
 
The IM/IM is the framework by which RCMP officers assess and manage risk 
through justifiable and reasonable intervention.  It is not a “use of force 
continuum.”  It does not suggest a linear path of use of force.  Rather, it helps 
officers choose the appropriate intervention option, based on the subject’s 
behaviour and the totality of the situation.  It promotes continuous risk 
assessment and centers on the RCMP problem-solving model known as CAPRA 
(Clients/Acquire and Analyze/Partnerships/Response/Assess).  The IM/IM also 
helps identify the subject’s behaviour and the best option to control the situation 
effectively. 
 
The circular concept of the model infers that any level of intervention is available 
to the officer, at any time, in order to manage the suspect’s corresponding level 
of resistance/situational factors/risk as assessed and perceived by the officer(s). 
The IM/IM defines the various levels of resistance offered by an offender and a 
corresponding level of control available to a police officer. 
 
The levels of resistance include the following: 
 
• Cooperative behaviour 
• Non cooperative behaviour 
• Passive resistance 
• Active resistance 
• Combative behaviour 
• Grievous bodily harm or death 
 
The levels of intervention available to an officer include the following: 
• Officer presence 
• Verbal intervention 
• Empty hand control – soft to hard 
• Intermediate devices 
• Impact weapons 
• Lethal force 
• Tactical repositioning 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 
The Incident Management/Intervention Model 
 

 
 
The assessment process begins in the center of the graphic with the situation 
confronting the officer.  From there, the assessment process moves outward and 
addresses the subject’s behaviour and the officer’s perceptions and tactical 
considerations.  Based on the officer’s assessment of the conditions represented 
by these inner circles, the officer selects from the intervention options contained 
within the model’s outer circle.  After the officer chooses a response option the 
officer must continue to assess, plan and act to determine if his or her actions are 
appropriate and/or effective or if a new strategy should be selected.  The whole 
process should be seen as dynamic and constantly evolving until the situation is 
brought under control. 
 
The key element in this assessment process is the level of threat that is 
perceived by the involved officer.  The officers perception of the level of threat is 
driven by various factors that influence their decision making process.  This 
includes situational factors such as environmental conditions, number of 
subjects, perceived ability of the subject(s), previous knowledge of the subject, 
time/distance concerns and threat cues. 
 

 



 

 

Other situational factors include how the officer/offender relationship began or in 
other words what type of situation or crisis brought them into contact.  Additional 
situational factors include the officer’s perceived abilities to respond which would 
involve factors such as their personal skill and ability, fitness, age, sex, size, or 
tools available to them. 
 
Another key situational factor influencing the officer’s response would include the 
type of resistance offered by the subject(s)—the potential for a serious or fatal 
injury to the officer, was the assault sudden in nature, weapons present or used, 
the officer’s physical position, the suspect’s ability to rapidly escalate resistance, 
perceived abilities of the suspect or special knowledge (armed and dangerous), 
the number of suspects and finally officer injuries and/or physical exhaustion. 
 
All of these various factors to a lesser or greater extent influence the officers 
threat assessment and ultimately influence the type of intervention a police 
officer may use to control a situation.  The greater the perceived level of 
resistance will invoke a reciprocal escalation in intervention options.  In summary, 
the Incident Management/Intervention Model is a guide utilized to assist 
officers in making operational decisions by providing general levels of 
intervention to be used in handling general levels of resistance present during 
confrontations.  It also assists officers and incident investigators by describing all 
the elements of a force encounter, using descriptors that are defined and 
standardized. 
 
The police are unique in our society in that they have authority to apply force, 
when justified, to gain control of a situation the public cannot or will not control.  
As a result of this, it is not unreasonable for the police to be accountable for the 
level of force applied, whether perceived justified or excessive.  In order for the 
police officer’s account of the events to be understood by “the trier of fact,” at 
whatever level that may be, all involved must understand the philosophy, 
principles and descriptors incorporated in the RCMP’s Incident 
Management/Intervention Model. (The IM/IM was amended April 30, 2009.) 
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Bulletin No. 

 

Issued 

 

Retain in Front of Chap. 

OM-479 
(R. 2007-12-21) 
2007-12-20 

16.9 

 
   

Subject – Backup 
Policy

 

1. The Senior Executive Committee approved a national back-up policy for 
inclusion in the Operational Manual. 

2. Effective 2007-12-19, the following types of occurrences identified in the policy 
require a multiple member response: 

2. 1. calls of violence, or where violence is anticipated; 

2. 2. domestic disputes; 

2. 3. an occurrence involving the use, display or threatened use of a weapon; 

2. 4. an occurrence involving a subject posing a threat to self or others; 

2. 5. areas where communications are known to be deficient; 

2. 6. any occurrence or situation where the member believes a multiple member 
response is required based on his/her risk assessment. 

3. RCMP members are always required to balance the requirements of policy 
with the reality of an incident in progress and the need for immediate response. 

4. The new policy does not preclude a member from taking action prior to arrival 
of assistance based on his/her risk assessment and the Incident Management 
Intervention Model (IMIM) – for example, imminent risk of grievous bodily harm or 
death present during a domestic dispute. 

ORIGINATED BY: 

Community, Contract and Aboriginal Policing Services  
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The following is extracted from the Use of Force Report: 
 
Use of Force Review Team Recommendations 
1. It is the opinion of the Review Team that Cst. FRENETTE was not clear on his 
role and responsibilities which was a precipitating factor in the outcome of this 
incident. Presently the RCMP Operational Manual only contains a definition of a 
“barricaded person” under the Immediate Action Rapid Deployment (IARD) 
policy. The RCMP Operational Manual does not contain clearly defined policy 
with respect to the detailed operational procedures required in a critical incident. 
The Review Team recommends RCMP policy and or guidelines on “barricaded 
persons” be implemented to be used by all ranks of the RCMP. 
 
2. It is the opinion of the Review Team that initial responding officers and 
particularly Cst FRENETTE, were not given concise directions and/or a plan on 
the procedures to successfully resolve a critical incident. The Review Team 
recommends that all District Commanders in “H” Division receive the Incident 
Commanders Course to ensure proper procedures are followed. In the absence 
of the attendance of a District Commander to a critical incident, the Review Team 
recommends a guide/checklist be developed and installed in all the police 
vehicles’ mobile workstations. This checklist will ensure all operational 
procedures for a critical incident are followed and completed. 
 
3. It is the recommendation of the review team that training be provided to 
members of the RCMP on the response process to critical incidents such as 
barricaded persons. This training should address Containment Principals for 
responding officers which would include the general rules and guidelines for 
containment and the role and responsibilities of containment officers. 
 
4. That Cst FRENETTE attend a refresher session on the RCMP Incident 
Management Intervention Model, including a session on risk assessment. This 
information is usually covered during the Operational Skills Maintenance session. 
It is further recommended that Cst FRENETTE attend a recertification of his 
Immediate Action Rapid Deployment users course. 
 
5. It is the recommendation of the Review Team that the “Use of Force Experts” 
who are assigned to assist the Integrated Critical Investigative Team in member 
involved shootings complete the Force Science Institute Certification Course. 
This program has been developed by Dr.William Lewinski – a renowned 
behavioral scientist who specializes in law enforcement issues. Dr. Lewinski is 
conducting the leading research in the bio-mechanics of lethal force encounters 
and has provided expert testimony in numerous officer involved lethal force 
encounters. This course is conducted by a team of experts on a wide variety of 
crucial dynamics that impact the understanding of “use of force” encounters. 
Officers who are certified in Force Science Analysis will be able to apply their 

 



 

grasp of human dynamics to interpret how and why a force confrontation evolved 
as it did. One of the members of the Review Team - Sgt Lindsay Hernden - has 
successfully completed this certification. It is his opinion that the course should 
be a requirement for members who are tasked to review these incidents and 
provide opinions on the involved officers [sic] actions. 
 
Salient points as extracted from the Use of Force Report:  
 
The intent of this report is to determine if the actions of Cst. Jeremy Frenette 
were warranted, reasonable and prudent with respect to the circumstances 
surrounding the fatal shooting of John Simon. 
 
Conclusions reached in this report were determined by an analysis of the 
following material: 
 
1. Reports and statements provided by the involved officers 
1. [sic] Witness statements 
2. Officers notes 
3. Forensic Identification Section - scene photographs, scene video, re-
enactment video, aerial photographs and autopsy photographs 
4. Forensic Identification Report, Forensic Laboratory Report - Firearms Section, 
Toxicology Report, Medical Examiners Report 
5. John Simon - Medical Records 
6. Cell phone records 
7. Digital wave file - radio transmissions 
8. Judicial Authorizations - Search Warrants / Information to Obtain 
9. RCMP Policy & Procedures 
10. Cst. Frenette - Training records 
 
After reviewing the previously mentioned material the writers then assessed the 
actions of Cst Frenette to determine if they were consistent with the legal levels 
of force available to law enforcement officers as described in the Criminal Code 
of Canada, RCMP Operational Manual RCMP Incident Management Intervention 
Model, and the general principles and standards taught to police officers during 
officer safety and firearms training.  
 
After a thorough review of the incident the writers are in agreement that Cst 
Frenettes’ decision to use lethal force was justified, warranted and reasonable 
following his confrontation with John Simon inside the residence. Simon 
threatened Cst. Frenette with a rifle - he possessed the requisite ability, intent 
and means to cause death or grievous bodily harm to this officer. Cst. Frenettes 
decision to use lethal force was necessary to defend his life against the imminent 
threat posed by John Simon. 
 
However, it is the opinion of the writers that Cst Frenettes actions preceding the 
fatal confrontation with John Simon were not in accordance with the members 

 



 

training and provisions set out in the RCMP Operational Manual specifically the 
underlying principles of the RCMP Incident Management Intervention Model 
(IMIM): 
 
1. The primary objective of any intervention is public safety. 
2. Police Officer safety is essential to public safety. 
3. The intervention model must always be applied in the context of a careful 
assessment of risk. 
4. Risk assessment must take into account: the likelihood and extent of life loss, 
injury and damage to property. 
5. Risk assessment is a continuous process and risk management must evolve 
as situations change. 
6. The best strategy is to utilize the least amount of intervention to manage the 
risk. 
7. The best intervention causes the least amount of harm or damage. 
 
***This policy was in place at the time of the incident and reflects the training 
given to the involved officer. This policy was amended on April 30th / 2009. 
 
It is the opinion of the Review Team that Cst. Frenette failed to understand the 
dynamics of / and dangers inherent to an armed and barricaded person situation. 
Cst. Frenette’s actions in and around the home were of his own accord, 
endangered his life unnecessarily and had the potential for and indeed 
contributed to the eventual confrontation with the armed and suicidal John 
Simon. 
 
Cst. Frenette’s actions were in direct contravention of training with respect to 
barricaded persons provided during his Immediate Action Rapid Deployment 
(IARD) Users Course on 2007-05-28. During this course Cst. Frenette received 
instruction on the IMIM and the response to barricaded persons. Cst. Frenette 
was instructed on Concepts and Protocols and the appropriate response to 
barricaded persons as illustrated in the following excerpts (boxes) from the 
Course Training Standard:26 

                                               
26 RCMP Tactical Training Section – “Concept and protocols of Immediate 5 Action Rapid 
Deployment” – Sgt. Richard Groulx, 2005-10-07. 

 



 

  
 

  
 
Decision to Enter the Residence 
 
It is the opinion of the Review Team that Cst Frenette’s decision to enter the 
residence was based on the following factors: 
 
Cst Frenette was a very junior member with only two years experience and no 
previous experience dealing with a barricaded person. Cst Frenette was unclear 
of his mission and / or role at the scene. Cst Frenette was looking for a resolution 
of the incident versus containment of the scene and a traditional police response.  
 
Cst Frenette’s decision to enter the residence was imprudent and endangered 
his safety, other members and the public. An appropriate risk assessment must 
take into account the likelihood and extent of life loss, injury and damage to 
property. Cst Frenette failed to recognize the serious danger involved in this 
barricaded person incident and the detailed planning that is required to resolve 
these incidents successfully. Cst Frenette acted on his own without clear 
direction. Cst Frenette failed to employ a proper risk assessment in that he did 
not weigh the benefits of entering the residence versus the potential for a deadly 
confrontation with John Simon. 
 

 



 

A significant factor that mislead Cst Frenette in his approach involved his 
previous dealings with John Simon. In those previous encounters Simon would 
be non-cooperative through intimidation, but in the end he would comply with 
police. Cst. Frenette believed that this situation would / could be resolved in a 
similar manner. 
 
It is the opinion of the Review Team that Cst Frenette was influenced by a well-
known phenomenon of “Presumed Compliance”. This is a mind set of 
complacency and optimism that you assume a suspect will comply by the mere 
fact that you are an authority figure. Cst. Frenette assumed that he could enter 
the residence, confront John Simon and the incident would be resolved 
peacefully. 
 
“Presumed Compliance appears to be a simple concept; literally meaning, you 
assume a 'suspect' will comply. But don't be fooled, 'Presumed Compliance' is 
quite complex and must not be summed up as simply a 'false sense of security'. 
Its origins are deeply rooted in attitude, psyche, archetype and more. 'Presumed 
Compliance' dulls your edge; it diminishes the danger - in your mind. It affects 
how you think, feel and behave. Therefore, it will affect your tactics and, you may 
not even know you suffer from it “Presumed Complience” [sic] leads to 
overconfidence and a false sense of security. This permits us to take stupid risks 
in the form of a 'supermen' persona or by not training seriously. The debilitating 
combination of apathy and denial now present, ensures you will not seriously 
prepare, which means that should something happen, you will go into denial 
before you even get the opportunity to react. That is how the brain is wired. The 
combination of the aforementioned by-products of Presumed Compliance 
actually does more (as if that weren't enough) - it actually dulls intuition and 
instincts. Put all that together and you have an accident waiting to happen.”27 
 
Event Recollection 
 
After a thorough review of the statements taken from the officers involved in this 
incident and in particular the statement provided by Cst. Frenette it was noted by 
the Review Team that there were several inconsistencies with his recollection of 
the events. There were three primary areas of interest to the Review Team - they 
included the following: 
 
• Cst. Frenette’s recollection that he requested and received permission by radio 
to leave his containment position to move closer to the Simon residence - no 
such request was made by Cst. Frenette nor was permission granted by S/Sgt. 
Thompson according to the radio logs. 
 

                                               
27 Blauer, Tony, “The theory of presumed compliance”. PoliceOne.com. 2002. December 6, 2010 
<http://www.policeone.com/close-quarters-combat/articles/76386-The-theory-of-presumed-
compliance/>.  

 

http://www.policeone.com/close-quarters-combat/articles/76386-The-theory-of-presumed-compliance/
http://www.policeone.com/close-quarters-combat/articles/76386-The-theory-of-presumed-compliance/


 

 

• Cst. Frenette was unable to recollect clearly the condition of John Simons [sic] 
firearm following the shooting. The weapon was found unloaded with a rifle 
cartridge in close proximity. Cst. Frenette does not recollect if he cleared the 
weapon or not. 
 
• Cst. Frenette indicated in his statement that he did not hear S/Sgt. Thompson 
inform the members over the radio that ERT (Emergency Response Team) was 
on the way. During the same radio transmission Cst. Frenette had responded 
clearly to S/Sgt. Thompson twice before being told ERT was enroute where upon 
an inaudible response from him was recorded. 
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Subsequent to the release of the ICIT report and the Independent Officer 
Review, “H” Division took a number of proactive steps to address the findings 
and recommendations of each.  The following table highlights the 
recommendations and the actions taken by “H” Division: 
 
ICIT Report 
 
Recommendation 

Conduct a 
managerial 
review of policy 
re barricaded 
persons. 

District 
Commanders 
should 
receive the 
Incident 
Commander’s 
Course and a 
guide should 
be developed 
for front-line 
member 
responders. 

Review 
training on 
response 
process re 
barricaded 
persons. 

Cst. 
Frenette 
should 
attend a 
refresher 
course on 
IM/IM. 

Use of Force 
Subject Matter 
Experts should 
receive 
training in 
biomechanics 
of lethal force. 

Relevant Actions By “H” Division 

– CO ordered 
Independent 
Officer Review. 
– Division policy 
has been drafted 
concerning 
armed and 
barricaded 
persons. 

 

– Three 
senior S/Sgts 
have 
attended the 
IC Course in 
2010. 
– Checklist 
has been 
devised and 
is available. 

– Division 
training for 
front-line 
members on 
responding 
to critical 
incidents 
has been 
developed 
– Provincial 
Crisis 
Intervention 
Team has 
been 
trained. 

Because 
Cst. 
Frenette 
has been 
transferred 
to another 
division and 
is off duty, it 
is believed 
this training 
has not yet 
occurred. 

Under 
consideration. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

Independent Officer Review Report 
 
Recommendation 

Division policy 
should be drafted 
to deal with 
incidents involving 
armed and 
barricaded 
persons. 

It should be 
pointed out to 
Cst. Frenette 
that he placed 
himself in 
Officer-Induced 
Jeopardy. 

Review training 
on response 
process re ERT 
call-out for 
barricaded 
persons. 

Front-line members 
should receive 
additional training re 
critical incidents. 

Division training for 
front-line members 
on responding to 
critical incidents 
has been 
developed. 

 

Information was 
forwarded to his 
new division to 
address this.  
No 
recommendation 
from “H” Division 
as to what form 
this should take, 
i.e. counselling, 
remedial 
training. 
 

Division policy 
was amended to 
update the ERT 
call-out 
procedure. 

This is under review 
by “H” Division, but 
action has been 
taken to upgrade the 
critical incident 
training modules for 
front-line members. 
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All members must follow the RCMP Code of Conduct (found in ss. 38–58.7 of the 
RCMP Regulations, 1988).  Part IV of the Act describes disciplinary processes 
and sanctions for members of the RCMP, and it sets out the accountability 
mechanisms for members who are found to be in violation of the Code of 
Conduct.  Violations of the Code may be addressed informally, but in more 
serious cases will be addressed through formal measures.  Where formal 
discipline is initiated, the matter is referred to an adjudication board (the "Board"), 
comprised of three officers of the RCMP.  A hearing is held and the Board 
determines if the member has violated the Code of Conduct.  If so, another 
hearing is held to determine the appropriate sanction to be imposed.  To come to 
this determination, the Board will consider all relevant circumstances, as well as 
both the aggravating and mitigating factors. 

Under Part IV of the Act, the officer who initiated the disciplinary hearing 
or the member may appeal the Board's decision to the Commissioner.  
Only the member who has allegedly violated the Code of Conduct has the 
right to appeal the sanction ordered.  Appeal submissions are made in 
writing.  Unless the member requests otherwise, the Commissioner refers 
all disciplinary appeals to the Committee for its findings and 
recommendations. 

The limitation period for initiating disciplinary proceedings against 
members of the RCMP is contained in section 43(8) of the Act: "No 
hearing may be initiated by an appropriate officer under this section in 
respect of an alleged contravention of the Code of Conduct by a member 
after the expiration of one year from the time the contravention and the 
identity of that member became known to the appropriate officer."  In most 
cases, the Appropriate Officer (the "AO") is the Commanding Officer of the 
Division. 

When the AO presents a certificate stating the time an alleged 
contravention of the Code of Conduct by a member and the identity of that 
member became known to the AO (s. 43(9) of the Act), it constitutes proof 
of the date the AO became aware of the allegations, and therefore proof of 
the starting point of the one-year time limit.  However, where evidence to 
the contrary is presented by the member, the burden shifts to the AO to 
prove on a balance of probabilities that the information relied upon to 
prepare the certificate was factually correct. 

Section 43(8) has been subject to interpretation both before the 
Committee and the Commissioner of the RCMP, and before the Federal 
Court.  The test under section 43(8) is not always easy to apply or to 
understand and has been subject to much interpretation. 

 



 

 

Thériault v. the RCMP, [2006] FCA 61, is a recent Federal Court of Appeal 
decision that has provided guidance on some issues pertaining to 
section 43(8).  The Federal Court of Appeal stated that the AO acquires 
the knowledge referred to in section 43(8) of the Act when he or she is in 
possession of reliable and persuasive information about the alleged 
contravention and the identity of the member.  The degree of knowledge 
required for the time period to begin to run does not need to be confirmed 
through an investigation, and it is not necessary to have all the evidence 
required to exercise the right of action.  The Court of Appeal also 
concluded that an Officer's knowledge of the points set out in section 43(8) 
of the Act follows him when he assumes the position of Appropriate 
Officer, even if it is only on an acting basis. 

In Thériault v. the RCMP, the Court noted that section 43(8) is attempting to balance the need for fairness to 
members subject to discipline, and the need to maintain the integrity of the RCMP as an institution. 
 
SOURCE: ERC Website – http://www.erc-cee.gc.ca/reports-rapports/other-autres/president-eng.aspx  
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It will be useful to canvass what information was available to the Appropriate 
Officer in the year following the shooting of Mr. Simon.  As noted in the body of 
the report, reports were filed by each agency (RCMP and HRP) in its own 
electronic system; therefore, each agency had in its possession a complete copy 
of all available investigative data.  Indications from the RCMP, however, are that 
they opted not to review this data pending completion of the ICIT Report. 
 
Cst. Frenette 
 
Management of “H” Division knew within a very short period of time that 
Cst. Frenette was the member who shot Mr. Simon and knew that Cst. Frenette 
had entered the residence without direction, without notifying the other members 
on scene and without arranging for backup or an escape plan.  In spite of this 
knowledge, management of “H” Division opted to await the results of the ICIT 
investigation into the criminal aspects of the incident rather than to initiate a Code 
of Conduct proceeding. 
 
Cst. Bernard 
 
The Appropriate Officer knew or should have known within days of the incident 
that Cst. Bernard attended alone at a complaint of a suicidal, intoxicated man 
with firearms in his possession.  He had requested backup, but at the time he 
went to the Simon residence, the backup (Cst. Frenette) had not yet arrived.  
Cst. Bernard did contact Mr. Simon by telephone before he went to the home, but 
policy indicates he should have awaited Cst. Frenette. 
 
After speaking with Mr. Simon by telephone, confirming that he did have at least 
one weapon and that he was intoxicated, Cst. Bernard then left the scene (as 
directed by S/Sgt. Thompson) and drove to pick up S/Sgt. Thompson.  This left 
the community vulnerable to Mr. Simon had he opted to leave the residence and 
begin shooting. 
 
After returning to the scene and speaking again with Mr. Simon by telephone, he 
was directed by S/Sgt. Thompson to move closer to the house to better observe 
the residence.  As he and Cst. Frenette took up positions around the house, 
Cst. Bernard accepted direction from Cst. Frenette, a member with only two 
years’ experience versus Cst. Bernard’s 15 years, to remain where he was while 
Cst. Frenette went around to the other side of the house and up on to the deck of 
the Simon home.  That was the last conversation between Cst. Bernard and 
Cst. Frenette until after the shooting. 
 

 



 

S/Sgt. Thompson 
 
Management of the RCMP knew or should have known shortly after the shooting 
that, notwithstanding the fact that the situation unfolding was fluid, little direction 
or operational planning was provided to Cst. Bernard and Cst. Frenette by 
S/Sgt. Thompson and that he exerted little control on their movements in the 
area of the Simon house.  Even though he was warned that a shooting could 
result, he continued to allow the constables to remain in close proximity to the 
residence when he had no indication of Mr. Simon’s intentions or state of mind. 
 
He did tell the members near the house to “Sit tight.  ERT is on their way,” but did 
not take action to ensure that the members were in a safe place and that 
members of the public were also safe. 
 
The following passage is excerpted from the memorandum of S/Sgt. S. J. Scott 
to the Criminal Operations Officer of “H” Division on January 20, 2010.  Although 
it was written after the expiration of the one-year period, it contains information 
that could have been known to the RCMP had management of “H” Division 
wished to consider whether or not disciplinary action was warranted in the 
circumstances of the shooting: 
 
 

1) Constable Jason Bernard 
 
Constable Jason Bernard was aware that the ERT team had been called. 
He was with Staff Sergeant Archie Thompson when these calls were 
being made.  When he left the area where Staff Thompson was staged, he 
was aware that these resources were on their way.  Staff Thompson had 
sent Cst. Bernard down to be with Cst. Frenette.  Cst. Bernard knew that 
their only response at this time was to keep an eye on the house. 
 
When Cst. Bernard went to the area outside Mr. Simon's residence, he 
was present with Cst. Frenette when Staff Thompson called Cst. Frenette 
on the radio and advised him "to sit tight, ERT is on their way there". 
 
At this time or shortly thereafter, Cst. Frenette told Cst. Bernard that he 
was going onto the deck and directed Cst. Bernard to stay there.  
Cst. Bernard (from what I have read) did not voice the direction which he 
supposedly received from Staff Thompson. 
 
Cst. Bernard was a fifteen year member.  It would appear that 
Cst. Frenette had about two year’s service at the time of this incident. I am 
left with this question; when does a two year member tell a fifteen year 
member how things are going to unfold?  Cst. Bernard failed to inform 
Cst. Frenette what was transpiring and to direct Cst. Frenette away from 
the house.  

 



 

 

 
In this respect, Cst. Bernard being the senior member and being in a 
supervisory position by virtue of his service and the circumstances 
presented by the event, abdicated those responsibilities to a two year 
member.  Circumstances may have been different had Cst. Bernard 
recognized his responsibilities and exercised a level of control (direction) 
during this event. 
 
[…] 
 
2) Staff Sergeant Archie Thompson 
 
There are a few issue[s] which arise with Staff Thompson.  These issues 
deal with communication and the initiation of an operational plan which 
should have been clearly communicated to Cst. Frenette and 
Cst. Bernard. 
 
My main concern is the direction which he gave to Cst. Frenette and 
Cst. Bernard early in this incident when the members were staged outside 
the community.  What direction was given to Cst. Frenette prior to his 
departure in order to block off the western access to Mr. Simon's 
residence.  What direction was Cst. Frenette given as to approaching the 
Simon household after clearing other residences in the community near 
the Simon house.  From my review of the noted documentation, I could 
not find anything which would resemble an active operational plan. 
 
This view is reflected in the Use of Force Investigation.  From page 23 […] 
of this report (and continuing on page 24/1844), the following was written: 
 
After Cst Bernard departed the residence he picked up Staff 
Sgt Thompson and they met Cst Frenette at the Red Barn. It appears 
S/Sgt. Thompson exits his vehicle and proceeded to briefly speak 
with Cst. Frenette about the situation. It would appear that little or no 
specific directions were given to Cst's. Frenette or Bernard on the 
anticipated police response to this armed and barricaded person 
situation. These situations are highly volatile and require a planned 
and a coordinated police response.  Responding officers need to be 
given clear direction including specified roles and responsibilities.  It 
is the reviews teams opinion based on the statements of the involved 
officers that planning was inadequate and/or was not communicated 
to the extent required for a clear understanding of roles and 
responsibilities. 
 
[…] 
 



 

3) Constable Jeremy Frenette 
 
In my earlier correspondence, I had advised the District Policing Officer for 
Northeast Nova that a Code of Conduct should not be considered against 
Cst. Frenette.  At the time that I made that statement, I was not in 
possession of the Use of Force Investigation.  I have now been provided 
same and tender my new recommendation based on that report. 
 
Cst. Frentte's [sic] decision to enter the Simon residence was contrary to 
the instructions provided by Staff Sergeant Thompson (at 22:12 hours) 
and was also contrary to what he would have been instructed on various 
courses which he has received from the Force.  His actions on 
December 2nd, 2008 would have been contrary to instruction received 
during the Immediate Action Rapid Deployment which he under-took in 
May of 2007. 
 
At approximately, 22:23 hours, Cst. Frentte [sic] had confronted 
Mr. Simon.  Cst. Frenette was a very junior member who did not heed 
instruction from two levels on the night in question.  This negligent 
performance has placed himself and our organization in a liability position 
resulting from the death of Mr. Simon. 
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ffice of the Sen Commissioner
Bureau du sous‐commissaire supérieur 
O  ior Deputy 

RCMP‐GRC 

2010­10­15 

 
 
DIRECTIVE FROM THE SENIOR DEPUTY COMMISSIONER: 

Code of Conduct Investigations 
In order to reinforce the obligations specified within Section 40 RCMP Act, its Regulations, and 
AM XII.4, as well as to enhance the ability of the Professional Integrity Officer (PIO) to better 
advise the Commissioner and Senior Executive of the RCMP regarding notable Code of Conduct 
(CofC) investigations an amended process is required.  AM XII.4 will be amended to include 
mandatory notification of the Professional Integrity Officer and a better articulation of decisions of 
whether a Code of Conduct investigation is warranted.  Until the AMXII.4 has been amended, AM 
XII 4, paragraph 2 General, sub paragraph 2.5 shall read as follows: 
 
AM XII.4. 2. 5. Each division must notify the Professional Integrity Officer, National 
Headquarters (with CC to: OIC Professional Standards Unit, Professional Standards and 
External Review Directorate, National Headquarters), of all Code of Conduct investigations by 
submitting a briefing note as outlined in App. XII-4-1 whenever: 

2. 5. 1. a serious injury of an individual involves an RCMP Member or where it appears an 
RCMP Member may have contravened, or had been charged under, a provision of the 
Criminal Code or other enactment and the matter is of a serious or sensitive nature*, or 

2. 5. 2. the incident may attract media attention, or 

2. 5. 3. the incident may raise questions in Parliament. 

* To review what is considered to be serious injury, serious or sensitive in nature refer to 
AM XII.4 (Investigations) and OM 54.1 (RCMP External Investigation or Review Policy). 

 
The Professional Integrity Officer’s role is to inform and advise the Commissioner’s office and the 
Senior Executive with respect to notable issues in employee behavior, as well as to assist 
Divisions as required, in articulating whether or not a Code of Conduct investigation will be 
initiated.  It will not be the role of the Professional Integrity Officer to decide if a Code of Conduct 
investigation is warranted; rather, the Professional Integrity Officer will ensure, on behalf of the 
Commissioner, there is a timely and concise written record of the rationale for the decision. 
 
NOTE:  The threshold for instituting a Code of Conduct investigation is unchanged requiring only 
the "appearance" of a contravention; it is the investigation of a CofC that determines if there has 
in fact been a contravention.  Once there is an appearance of a contravention there is no 
discretion as to whether to initiate an investigation.  The appearance of a contravention is 
satisfied if all of the three following conditions exist; 
 
1) knowledge of an alleged contravention; 
2) identity of the member is known or can easily be determined; and 
3) the allegation is credible and persuasive. 
 
Should you have any questions or concerns with respect to this directive, please contact the 
Professional Integrity Officer at: (613)990-9188 or (613)993-5396. Joseph.hincke@rcmp-grc.gc.ca 

http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/index_e.htm�
http://infoweb.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/rcmpmanuals/eng/am/12/am12-4/a12-4-1/a12-4-1.htm
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